Department for Farm Animals and Veterinary Public Health

University of Veterinary Medicine Vienna

Clinic for Poultry and Fish Medicine

Clinical Unit of Fish Medicine

(Head: Univ.-Prof. Dr.rer.nat. Mansour El-Matbouli)

Benefit and drawbacks of fish meal substitution in aquaculture diets

Diploma Thesis

University of Veterinary Medicine Vienna

Submitted by

Anett Gutasi

Wien, 2021

1st supervisor

Univ.-Prof. Dr.rer.nat. Mansour El-Matbouli

2nd supervisor

Dr. Simon Menanteau-Ledouble

Dedicated to my family

Contents

1.	Intr	oduc	ction
	1.1	Exp	anding demand for aquaculture1
	1.1.	1	Worldwide increasing consumption of fish and the benefits of fish meat1
	1.1.	2	Fisheries production
	1.1.	3	Rise of aquaculture
	1.2	Aqı	aculture is largely dependent on fishmeal6
	1.2.	1	Importance of fish meal6
	1.2.	2	Price of fish meal and problem with supplies7
	1.3	Dig	estion of teleost fish
	1.4	Eva	luating alternatives sources of nutrients10
	1.4.	1	Vegetal sources
	1.4.	2	Other animal protein sources11
	1.4.	3	Mixing animal and plant protein sources12
2	Pla	nt ba	sed protein sources for substituting fish meal in the aquatic diet
	2.1	Ger	neral information
	2.2	Effe	ects of plant proteins in fish13
	2.2.	1	Nutrient digestibility and utilization14
	2.2.	2	Bio-availability and utilization of micronutrients15
	2.2.	3	Biochemical composition in fish16
	2.2.	4	Flesh quality17
	2.2.	5	Immune and stress parameters17
	2.3	Soy	bean meal in the aquatic diet18
	2.3.	1	Experimental diet
	2.3.	2	Combination of SBM and corn gluten meal (CGM) in aquaculture diet

2.3.3	SBM with addition of wheat gluten and corn gluten in fish diet	24
2.3.4	SBM with groundnut in fish diet	26
2.4 Ca	nola/Rapeseed in the aquatic diet	29
2.4.1	Canola meal for shrimp	33
2.4.2	Canola meal for fish	
2.5 Cot	ttonseed in aquaculture diets	
2.5.1	Anti-nutritional factors in the CSM	35
2.5.2	CSM effects on the growth	
2.6 Alg	ae in the aquaculture diet	40
2.6.1	Spirulina in the aquatic diet	41
2.6.2	Thraustochytrids	44
2.7 Dis	tiller`s dried grains with soluble (DDGS) in the aquatic diet	45
2.7.1	Experimental diet	
	1	
2.8 Mi 49	xing of plant and animal protein sources for replace fish meal in the aquac	ulture diet
2.8 Mi 49 3 Animal-	xing of plant and animal protein sources for replace fish meal in the aquac based protein as an alternative for substitution fish meal in the aquacultu	ulture diet re diet . 51
2.8 Mi 49 3 Animal- 3.1 Ani	xing of plant and animal protein sources for replace fish meal in the aquac based protein as an alternative for substitution fish meal in the aquacultu imal By-products in the aqua feed	ulture diet re diet . 51 51
2.8 Mi 49 3 Animal- 3.1 An 3.1.1	xing of plant and animal protein sources for replace fish meal in the aquac based protein as an alternative for substitution fish meal in the aquacultu imal By-products in the aqua feed Experimental diet	ulture diet re diet . 51 51
2.8 Mi 49 3 Animal- 3.1 An 3.1.1 3.2 Ins	xing of plant and animal protein sources for replace fish meal in the aquac based protein as an alternative for substitution fish meal in the aquacultu imal By-products in the aqua feed Experimental diet ect protein in aqua culture	ulture diet re diet . 51 51 53 56
2.8 Mi 49 3 Animal- 3.1 An 3.1.1 3.2 Ins 3.3 Ear	xing of plant and animal protein sources for replace fish meal in the aquac based protein as an alternative for substitution fish meal in the aquacultu imal By-products in the aqua feed Experimental diet ect protein in aqua culture	ulture diet re diet . 51 51 53 56 59
2.8 Mi 49 3 Animal- 3.1 An 3.1.1 3.2 Ins 3.3 Eau 3.3.1	xing of plant and animal protein sources for replace fish meal in the aquac based protein as an alternative for substitution fish meal in the aquacultu imal By-products in the aqua feed Experimental diet ect protein in aqua culture fthworm in the fish diet	ulture diet re diet . 51 51 53 56 59 60
2.8 Mi 49 3 Animal- 3.1 An 3.1.1 3.2 Ins 3.3 Ea 3.3.1 Discussion	xing of plant and animal protein sources for replace fish meal in the aquac based protein as an alternative for substitution fish meal in the aquacultu imal By-products in the aqua feed Experimental diet ect protein in aqua culture rthworm in the fish diet	ulture diet re diet . 51 53 56 59 60 62
2.8 Mi 49 3 Animal- 3.1 An 3.1.1 3.2 Ins 3.3 Eau 3.3.1 Discussion	xing of plant and animal protein sources for replace fish meal in the aquac based protein as an alternative for substitution fish meal in the aquacultu imal By-products in the aqua feed Experimental diet ect protein in aqua culture rthworm in the fish diet Experimental diet	ulture diet re diet . 51 51 53 56 59 60 62 66
2.8 Mi 49 3 Animal- 3.1 An 3.1.1 3.2 Ins 3.3 Eau 3.3.1 Discussion Summary Zusammenfa	xing of plant and animal protein sources for replace fish meal in the aquac based protein as an alternative for substitution fish meal in the aquacultu imal By-products in the aqua feed Experimental diet ect protein in aqua culture rthworm in the fish diet Experimental diet	ulture diet re diet . 51 53 56 59 60 62 66 67
2.8 Mi 49 3 Animal- 3.1 An 3.1.1 3.2 Ins 3.3 Ea 3.3.1 Discussion Summary Zusammenfa	xing of plant and animal protein sources for replace fish meal in the aquac based protein as an alternative for substitution fish meal in the aquacultu imal By-products in the aqua feed Experimental diet ect protein in aqua culture rthworm in the fish diet Experimental diet	ulture diet re diet . 51 51 53 56 59 60 62 61 62 61 62

Content of figures	95
Content of tables	96
Acknowledgement	97

1. Introduction

1.1 Expanding demand for aquaculture

1.1.1 Worldwide increasing consumption of fish and the benefits of fish meat

Aquaculture is one of the fastest growing food producing sectors throughout the world. The growth of aquaculture and global consumption of farmed fish have been increasing for the last several decades.

Food fish consumption shows a rapid and massive growth. In per capita it grew from 9.0 kg in 1961 to 20.2 kg in 2015, an average rate of about 1.5 % per year. The estimates for further growth was about 20.3 kg in 2016 and 20.5 kg in 2017. This growth has been fuelled not only by the growth of the global population but also by change in habits, as the food the average annual increase of the global food fish consumption has been twice the rate of population growth between 1961 and 2016 (FAO 2018). The expansion in consumption has been driven by the combination of many factors, including reduced wastage, better utilization and growing demand. It is also linked to the population growth and urbanisation. In 2015, fish provided almost 20 % of average per capita intake of animal protein for about 3.2 billion people. Population in developing countries have a higher part of fish protein in their diets compare to in developed countries (FAO 2018). The world fish consumption was projected to reach 20.3 kg in 2016 and 21.5 kg in 2030. Per capita fish consumption will increase in all regions except Africa, the highest growth rates are projected for Latin Amerika, Asia and Oceania (FAO 2018). Fish meat has several positive effects, including low saturated fats, carbohydrates and cholesterol, wide range of essential micronutrients and various vitamins and minerals. In addition, fish plays a central and increasing role effective in the nutritional security of poor and vulnerable populations around the globe (World Bank 2013).



Figure 1: World aquaculture production of food fish and aquatic plants, 1990-2016 (FAO 2018).

1.1.2 Fisheries production

The global fisheries production reached up to 174.0 million tonnes (Mt) and from which 90.4 Mt comes from capture and 83.6 Mt comes from aquaculture (FAO 2016, FAO - Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations 2017). About 88 % (over 151 million tonnes) was utilized for direct human consumption and the other 12 % used for non-food purposes like fish meal (FM) or fish oil (FO) (FAO 2018). In the last several years the total aquaculture production increase contrasted with the total capture fisheries production, which has experienced a decline (Fig. 1 and Fig. 2).



Figure 2: World capture fisheries and aquaculture production (FAO 2018).

The global total capture fisheries totalled 90.9 Mt according to the FAO capture database in 2016, this shows a decrease in comparison to the two previous years.

The global catch from inland waters in 2016 showed an increase of 2.0 % over the previous year, and 10.5 % in comparison to the 2005–2014 average (FAO 2018).

1.1.3 Rise of aquaculture

Conversely, the other part of the fish production, aquaculture is growing faster than other food production sectors in the last decades (FAO 2018, Fig.3). The rapid expansion of the global aquaculture production shows that in the past three decades the annual growth rate of the global aquaculture production is more than 8 %. It grew from 5.2 Mt in 1981 to 62.7 Mt in 2011 (World Bank 2013). Whereas the average annual growth declined to 5.8 % during the period 2000-2016, there were some countries in Africa and Asia where double-digit growth was observed between 2006 to 2010 (FAO 2018).



Figure 3: Average annual growth rate of aquaculture production by volume (excluding aquatic plants)(FAO 2018).



Figure 4: Aquaculture contribution to total fish production (excluding aquatic plants) (FAO 2018).

Consequently, the contribution of aquaculture to the global fish production has grown continuously. It has risen from 25.7 % in 2000 to 46.8 % in 2016 (Fig. 4).

Inland aquaculture has also expanded, from 5.9 % in 2000 to 64.2 % in 2016.

The global aquaculture production in 2016 was 110.2 Mt, the value estimated at USD 243.5 billion. The total production included 80.0 Mt of food fish, 30.1 Mt of aquatic plants (mostly

seaweeds and microalgae) and 37 900 tonnes of non-food products (as ornamental shells and pearls) (FAO 2018).

China is a major influence on the global fish markets. In 2011, Asia produced 88 % of the world aquaculture production by volume and-, China alone accounted for 62 %. Thanks to the rapid growth in the fish production, the shares of China in the global fish production grew from 7 % in 1961 to 35 % in 2011. Aquaculture represents now more than 70 % of the total fish produced in China (World Bank 2013).

1.2 Aquaculture is largely dependent on fishmeal

1.2.1 Importance of fish meal

Until recently, FM was the chief protein source in fish feed for several reasons. It is considered the most nutritious and most digestible ingredients for farmed fish feeds (FAO 2018). FM is rich in protein content, has excellent essential amino acid (EAA) profile and nutrient digestibility, lack anti-nutritional factors (ANFs), is palatable and easily available.

Fish meals is primarily made from small pelagic fish, which after drying and grinding offers a cheap and suitable protein source consisting of whole fish, fish trimmings or fish by-products, which is often wasted. It includes a number of different species of mackerel, sardine and anchovy. Therefore, the production of fishmeal and fish oil is dependent on the catches of these species. Consequently, fishmeal production peaked at 30 Mt in 1994 and has showed a varying but overall declining trend since then. In 2016, it was down to less than 15 Mt, as a result the reduced catches of anchovy (FAO 2018).

In 2030, it is estimated that fishmeal production will be 19 % higher than in 2016, (reaching an estimated production of 5.3 Mt) because of the significant increasing of the world food fish consumption. It is expected that about 54 % of the growth will come from improved use of fish waste, cuttings and trimmings obtained from the fish processing (FAO 2018).

1.2.2 Price of fish meal and problem with supplies

Fishmeal is considered to be most expensive protein source in fish feed (Tacon 1993) and several previous studies have reported that the price of the fish feed is a decisive factor in the fish industry. Coyle et al. (2004) reported that feed costs account for more than 50 % of total production costs in aquaculture because of the use of the expensive protein source, fish meal. According to Tan & Dominy (1997) the feed costs accounts about 60 % of the total farm production costs.

Therefore, the continued growth of the fish industry depends largely on the production of sustainable and cost-effective feeds.

In late 2016 and early 2017, fish meal and fish oil prices started to decrease, thanks to the sufficient catches of small pelagic fish in Europe and the normalization of the climate in South America, following an abatement of El Nino. Due to the steady and growing demand, the prices of fish meal and fish oil are expected to increase again (FAO 2018). However, this is considered a momentary phenomenon and the trend overtime is opposite: several factors are contributing to the increasing prices of fishmeal in nominal terms. This includes the growing demand for fish products, population growth and the potential decline in capture fisheries production as a result of policy measures in China. Consequently, the slowdown in Chinese fisheries and aquaculture production will result in higher prices not only in China but throughout, the world (FAO 2018). The price of fishmeal and fish oil has increased significantly to over United States dollar (US\$) 1600 and US \$900-1800 per metric ton (FAO 2012). Relatively 4-5 tons of whole fish are required to produce 1 ton of dry fishmeal. The total world production of fishmeal was 4,445,000 tonnes in 2016 (IFFO Fishmeal and Fish Oil Statistical Yearbooks 2016) and FM doubled in price in recent years (Pavan Kumar et al. 2014).

The price of fishmeal is expected to rise again and could be about 20 % higher than in 2016 (FAO 2018). According to another study the prices between 2010 and 2030 period are expected to rise by 90 % for fish meal and 70 % for fish oil (World Bank 2013). Moreover, as a result of the high demand for fish for human consumption together with the higher prices it is estimated that the average price of internationally traded fish will increase by 25 % in 2030, compared to

the prices in 2016. In addition, the price of the fishmeal and fish oil are expected to continue this upward trend by 2030.

However, the availability of the resources of FM and fish oil has seen a decrease overtime. This is mainly because of the reduced catch comes from capture fishery and the resulting increase in costs of fishmeal and fish oil.

Moreover, there is an environmental burden resulting from the exploitation of fish stocks in order to sustain the fish farming industry.

The production of fishmeal and fish oil cannot keep up with the growing aquaculture industry. For this reason, there is a need for optimal protein and lipid sources to support the growth of the aquaculture production and many fish nutritionists have concentrated their efforts to find alternative protein sources to substitute fish meal in the diet. These alternatives need to replace the nutritional profile of fishmeal without compromising growth rates, while remaining available at a reasonable price in the general market.

1.3 Digestion of teleost fish

Digestion is a process where ingested materials are reduced to small size molecules suitable for absorption through the gut wall and into the blood stream.

The digestive track of teleost fish displays a high level of variability between species (Kim 2017). It is divided in five parts, the oesophagus, the stomach when present (a number of fish lineage have lost this organ) (Le et al. 2019), the pyloric caeca (all three sometimes referred to collectively as the foregut), the midgut and the hindgut (Fig.5). Most of the initial break down of the food takes place in the foregut, involving mechanical and acidic process as well as enzymes. The midgut is usually the longest part of the gut and contains enzymes secreted by the pancreas, from the intestinal wall and the bile from the liver, which renders the milieu alkaline. The enzymes digest all three groups of the food, including proteins, lipids and carbohydrates, which includes hydrolysis of proteins to polypeptide chains or to amino acids and digestion of carbohydrates to sugar molecules and lipids to glycerol and fatty acids. The hindgut starts posterior from the midgut with increased diameter and ends at the anus, it is where most of the adsorption of nutrients take place (Moraes und De Almeida 2019).



Figure 5: Digestive track of teleost fish (Smith 1980).

In fish, such as cyprinids, gobidids or blennies which lack a stomach and pylorus, the foregut consist of the oesophagus and an intestine anterior, in which opens to the bile duct and the midgut connects directly to the oesophagus.

Stomachless fish are most commonly herbivores and omnivores, while carnivores fish have stomach in which peptic digestion takes place (Le et al. 2019).

In general, fish only limited amounts of carbohydratases (Castillo und Gatlin 2015) and are therefore not naturally well suited for the digestion of carbohydrates, notably starch and cellulose (Krogdahl et al. 2005). Carnivorous fish like Atlantic salmon or Japanese yellowtail are particularly poor in this regard, as can be expected from the fact that most of the carbohydrates in the diet originates from plant material.

Correspondingly, herbivorous fish usually exhibit higher levels of carbohydrase activity than carnivore or omnivore fish, although this remains limited.

One important factor is that the majority of fish species are carnivorous and, although omnivorous and herbivorous fish all have relatively low protein requirements, about 25 % to 35 % of their diet, it is particularly marked in carnivorous fish that have higher dietary protein requirements, ranging from 40 % to 55 % of the diet (Wilson R.P. 2002, Jobling 2011). Most of the protein digestion takes place in the stomach (Moraes und De Almeida 2019) although it continues in the intestine as well. Because of the poor utilization of carbohydrates, protein is a very important energy source for carnivorous species. Their diets consume about 50 % protein, which is used very efficiency, because energy is catabolized through the excretion from the waste nitrogen. It is often the most expensive source in the manufactured aquaculture diets. Moreover, animal proteins tend to have a better balance of amino acids that matches of the fish better and therefore have a higher nutritional values compared to plant proteins (Moraes und De Almeida 2019).

1.4 Evaluating alternatives sources of nutrients

There are many criteria for considering alternative protein sources for FM include nutrient profile, palatability, digestibility, anti-nutritional factors, availability and price. That means that the alternative sources of proteins should be both economical and sustainable.

Digestibility is an important factor for alternative protein sources. Proteins are made of amino acids and if they lack the proper balance of essential amino acids, it can cause an imbalanced protein profile and would have lower digestibility and nutritional value. Early research by De Silva & Perera Singh demonstrated that the proper utilization of nutrients and energy from feed ingredients depend largely on the extent of their digestibility (De Silva und Perera 1985).

Opinions are divided in the question about replacing FM and many previous reports did not recommend replacing fish meal in the diets (De Francesco et al. 2004, Engin und Carter 2005, Bonaldo et al. 2006).

1.4.1 Vegetal sources

Plant feedstuffs are the major dietary protein sources for the artificial diets fed to omnivorous and herbivorous fish and are second to FM in diets for carnivorous species (Tacon und Metian 2009). Several alternative protein sources of plant origin have been investigated, such as soybean meal (SBM), rapeseed/canola meal, cottonseed meal, Spirulina, distilled dried grains with solubles (DDGS) and it has been possible to increase their level of incorporation in the diets even further.

Plant proteins are commonly regarded as the best source to replace fish meal, even if there are some disagreements regarding their incorporation in the fish diet as replacement for fish meal. Notably, it has been argued that: plant ingredients can have ANFs, and can be deficient in certain EAA, have low nutrient digestibility, lesser nutrient bio-availability and palatability because of high level of non-soluble carbohydrates consisting of fibre and starch.

On the other hand, several studies have reported that partial replacement of FM with plant protein in fish diets did not result in negative effect on the animal's performances while lowering the production cost significantly. Results from several studies have also demonstrated that feeding animals with plant protein did not affect the performance of the animals (Merrifield et al. 2010, Sheikhzadeh et al. 2012, Kpundeh et al. 2015, Guo et al. 2016, Li et al. 2016)

It is very important that the alternative sources must be able to supply adequate non-essential and essential amino acids required for the growth of the fish. Furthermore, most plant protein sources contain anti-nutritional factors which can affect growth, nutrient utilisation and fish welfare in general (Francis et al. 2001).

1.4.2 Other animal protein sources

In addition to plant material, many animal by-products have been used as ingredients in fish diets to compensate for the short supplies and increasing cost of fish meal. Animal origin protein sources such as meat meal, meat and bone meal, poultry by-product meal, feather meal, blood meal, insect protein and earthworm have high potential as alternatives to FM in aqua feeds as they have similar amino acid profile and competitive prices.

However, in contrast to plant feedstuffs, the availability of animal by-products in aquaculture is highly variable depending on the region. For instance, in Australia the use of several animal products causes an increased risk of disease transmission (due to bovine spongiform encephalopathy). In contrast to this the use of animal products in the European Union is very strictly regulated and largely prevents their use in animal feeds (Klinger und Naylor 2012). Moreover, while animal by-products have good palatability and contains no anti-nutritional factors, poultry by-products, meat meal and meat and bone meal have high ash contents and high saturated fat levels and this limits their use in aqua feeds (Oliva-Teles et al. 2015).

1.4.3 Mixing animal and plant protein sources

Many studies have shown that mixing different animal by-products and plant protein sources is more efficient and effective in enriching the nutritional profile of diets. It could prevent nutritional deficiencies, result in a more complete and balanced diet than at single source of protein and ensure a proper supply of essential nutrients in fish protein (Lee und Bai 1997, Bae et al. 2012a, Nates und J 2015, Wang et al. 2016). The concentrated mixture of animal and plant protein sources such as soybean meal (SBM), poultry by-product meal (PBM), blood meal (BM), leather meal (LM), and feather meal (FEM) have already been used as fish meal replacements in the diets of many freshwater fish species (Engin und Carter 2005, Jo et al. 2017, Njue et al. 2018).

As the previous research has demonstrated there are many alternative sources for substituting the expensive fish meal, mainly from plant and animal origin. The present diploma thesis presents an overview regarding the benefits and drawbacks of using alternative sources of nutrients in fish feed.

2 Plant based protein sources for substituting fish meal in the aquatic diet

2.1 General information

Intensive and semi-intensive fish farming relies on the distribution of aqua feed to provide nutrition to the fish (or, in the case of semi-intensive fish farming, to supplement the natural productivity of the fish ponds). Traditionally, the major ingredient in this artificial feed has been animal proteins in the form of fishmeal, generally processed fish products improper for human consumption (fish offal or bones or by-catch).

The demand for fishmeal is increasing worldwide, following the increase in volumes produced by the aquaculture industry. However, the supply of fishmeal is limited and unreliable, resulting in highly variable and rising costs. Moreover, there is a concern about the pressure on wild fisheries that could be exerted by the need to provide ever increasing volumes of fishmeal. Hence it is important to find alternative sources of proteins and lipids, which are economical and sustainable (Gatlin et al. 2007).

Over the years, several components have been investigated and evaluated for use as ingredients in aquaculture feed (Enami 2002, 2003a, 2003b) such as their digestibility, palatability and nutrient utilization (Gomes et al. 1993, 1995, Glencross et al. 2007). In particular plant based materials have received sustained scrutiny as these are easily available and have reasonable price compared to fish meal. Several studies have suggested that replacement with plant proteins did not affect the performance of the animals (Merrifield et al. 2010, Sheikhzadeh et al. 2012, Kpundeh et al. 2015, Guo et al. 2016, Li et al. 2016).

2.2 Effects of plant proteins in fish

Plant protein sources are regarded as the most promising source to replace fish meal as they are a reliable and sustainable source of proteins. However, other aspects of plant proteins have hindered their adoption: Plant ingredients can have ANFs, they are often deficient in certain EAA, their nutrient can have limited digestibility, bio-availability and palatability because of excessive degrees of non-soluble carbohydrates consisting of fibre and starch. However, several microorganisms, like yeast, bacteria and fungi have been shown to be effective at reducing the effects of anti-nutrients in plant material or adding of essential protein and amino acids (Daniel 2018).

2.2.1 Nutrient digestibility and utilization

The determination of digestibility of ingredients in a diet is a very important for evaluating the effective use of an ingredient for fish and shrimp species (Allan et al. 2000).

Furthermore, the activity of digestive enzymes such as of protease, amylase and lipase is also important to estimate the digestibility of feed ingredients (Zhang et al. 2014).

Previous reports have documented that plant protein in the fish diet affect the digestibility of nutrients by changing the digestive enzyme activity, digestion and absorption capacity of animal (Alarcón et al. 1999, Fontaínhas-Fernandes et al. 1999, Chong et al. 2002, Gaylord et al. 2004, Santigosa et al. 2008, 2011a, 2011b, Richard et al. 2011, Li et al. 2016).

This ANF content within plant sources can hinder the digestion as can excessive levels of fibre or the changes intestinal microflora resulting from feeding plant proteins. ANFs result in a decrease in growth performance and feed efficiency (Olvera-Novoa et al. 2002) and affect digestive enzyme activity, digestion and absorption capacity of animals (Alarcón et al. 1999).

The choice of plant ingredients is essential due to the variation in the digestibility of different plant sources. A study with striped catfish (*Pangasianodon hypophthalmus*) demonstrates that the apparent protein digestibility of different plant ingredients like soybean meal, maize meal rice and sweet potato were not the same (Da et al. 2013).

A study from Fontainhas-Fernandes et al. reported that Nile tilapia fed with plant protein sources had lower digestion than fish meal based diet fed fish group (Fontaínhas-Fernandes et al. 1999).

The activity of digestive and absorptive enzymes was reportedly lower in grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idella*) feeding with high-level of plant protein, although this problem could be allivated using supplementation with lysine and methionine (Jiang et al. 2016).

Santigosa found that Sea bream (*Sparus aurata*) fed with plant protein sources showed reduced digestive activity. However, a compensation mechanism was reported, associated with increased relative intestinal length and upregulation of the activity of trypsin, resulting in the growth rates similar to that of the groups fed the fish meal diets (Santigosa et al. 2008).

2.2.2 Bio-availability and utilization of micronutrients

Several reports have suggested that fish fed with plant protein have lowered concentration for several types of vitamins, including riboflavin, niacin, panthotetic acid and vitamin B12 (Bell und Waagbø 2008).

Vitamins are essential for the right metabolism of animals. According to Hansen plant protein sources have low B vitamins availability compared to animal proteins, and need to be supplemented with additional B vitamins in the diet (Hansen et al. 2015).

Similarly, plant-based diets are often low in Phosporus bioavailability (Goda et al. 2007). About 75 % of the Phosporus from plant ingredients comes from phytate-phosphorus, which has low digestibility in fish because they generally lack the enzyme phytase (Lall 1991). However, several techniques have been suggested to alleviate these issues, for example addition of meat and bone meal (MBM) at 7 % to plant based diet improved phosphorus absorption in Nile Tilapia (Suloma et al. 2013). In addition, supplementation of microbial phytase to the diet notably increased Phosphorus absorption in plant-based diet (Liebert und Portz 2005).

Organic acids have a positive effect on the digestion of animals and can improve phosphorus absorption in the small intestine (Ravindran und Kornegay 1993) and lower the pH in the stomach, which results in the increased pepsin activity and protein digestion in animals (Mroz et al. 2000).

In addition, supplementation with citric acid and fatty acid (FA) to the plant-based diet enhances the bioavailability and retention of certain minerals, such as Ca, Mg, Na, K, Zn and Mn (Sugiura et al. 2000, Sarker et al. 2012).

Similarly, according to Weng and Chen (Weng und Chen 2010) the fermentation of plant ingredients may improve the micro-nutrients (Vitamin A and B).

2.2.3 Biochemical composition in fish

As one might expect, the nutritional composition of the fish' diet can change the biochemical composition of aquatic animals (Zhou und Yue 2010).

For example, in Atlantic cod excess supplementation of the diet with plant proteins has been correlated with decreased liver size, plasma triacylglycerol concentration (TAG) and lipid productive value (LPV).

The study of tissue transcriptomes (mRNA expression) provides further information about the effects of the different the dietary ingredients in the fish diet. The effects of replacing FM and FO with plant ingredients on the gene expression in fish has been widely studied (Leaver et al. 2008, Panserat et al. 2008, 2009, Torstensen et al. 2008, Geay et al. 2011, Tacchi et al. 2012). According to Panserat et al. the replacement of both FM and FO with plant ingredients in the diet of juvenile rainbow trout induced changes in the hepatic expression of genes involved in glucose metabolism and nucleic acid and in cell proliferation and apoptosis (Panserat et al. 2009)(Tacchi et al. 2012).

Moreover, plant protein sources in the diet have been suggested to have a hypocholesterolemic effect and leads to reduced growth. This can be explained by the fact that high amounts of plant ingredients contain negligible amount of cholesterol (Yun et al. 2011). Feeding juvenile rainbow trout with completely plant-based diets results decreased growth compared to trout were fed with marine ingredients based diet (Francesco et al. 2004).

In contrast, some studies have suggested that fish can be fed with plant-based protein without affecting the biochemical compositions. Rodiles has established that 30 % fish meal replacement with plant protein sources like SBM, soybean protein concentrates and wheat gluten meal did not affect the proximate composition of muscle, fatty acid profile and plasma -, hepatic-, and muscular metabolites parameter in Senegalese sole (Rodiles et al. 2015).

Atlantic code (*Gadus morhua*) fed with high plant proteins did not display any effect on the whole body, liver, muscle proximate compositions or blood parameters (Hansen et al. 2007). Plant-based protein had not compromised the body composition of crab by replacing fish meal at rate 64 % with cottonseed, after Jiang et al. (2013).

Reports says that plant protein often lack of lysine and methionine, two essential amino acids, which are important for growth (Nutr. Requir. Fish 1993) and are required for the biosynthesis of carnitine and energy metabolism in fish (Tanphaichitr et al. 1971).

2.2.4 Flesh quality

Previous authors have reported, that dietary plant proteins lower the flesh quality of fish (Alami-Durante et al. 2010, Valente et al. 2016), even though other reports have suggested that feeding plant proteins does not affect flesh quality in fish. In Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) and gilthead sea bream feeding with high level of plant proteins was reported not to have any detrimental effects on the texture properties and flesh quality (Johnsen et al. 2011, Matos et al. 2012, 2014). Cabral et al. (2013) has found fish meal replaced by plant protein sources up to 75 % has not affected the flesh quality of Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalenses*).

L-Carnitine plays a role in the growth promotion of animals, reduces fat accumulation in fish tissues by increasing the lipid oxidation for using the energy from lipids (Harpaz 2005, Ozorio 2009). It was documented that high levels of plant proteins with L-Carnitine addition had growth promoting effect and decreased the ratio of intraperitoneal fat and the whole lipid body contents of silver perch (*Bidyanus bidyanus*), which results a better flesh quality (Yang et al. 2012). Hence, supplementing of L-Carnitine is feasible during increasing the plant protein content in the diet, this may spare the lysine and methionine, which are important for the fish.

2.2.5 Immune and stress parameters

Several studies have reported that increasing plant proteins in the diet of some carnivorous fish can disturb the fish immune system because of the ANFs content (Hardy 2010).

Ferrara reported that replacement fish meal with 40 % SBM induced inflammatory reaction in the gut of sharp snout sea bream (*Diplodus puntazzo*) (Ferrara et al. 2015). Atlantic salmon fed with SBM results enteritis in distal intestine (Baeverfjord und Krogdahl 1996). Another study documented that rainbow trout fed with plant-based diet had lowered cell survival and turnover (Overturf et al. 2012).

In contradiction with the previous findings, some studies suggested that fish meal can be replaced with plant proteins without affecting the immune performance of animals. Hansen reflected that Atlantic cod fed with plant based diets up to 44 % does not affect the intestinal or liver function.

Taurine as an amino acid, has a role in the immunoregulation and detoxication (Motawi et al. 2007, Gülyaşar et al. 2010). Supplementation of dietary plant protein with taurine has been shown to improve the immunity and decrease the ammonia levels in yellow catfish (*Pylodictis olivaris*) (Li et al. 2016).

Similarly, a recent study showed that rainbow trout fed with microalgae in the diet improved the immune and stress parameters (Sheikhzadeh et al. 2012).

2.3 Soybean meal in the aquatic diet

Plant-based products, such as soybean (*Glycine max*), are one of the most popular alternatives in aquaculture (Nordrum et al. 2000, Li und Robinson 2015).

Moreover, soybean has several positive effect on fish: it is highly palatable (Sugiura et al. 1998, Refstie et al. 2000, Watanabe 2002), it has high protein content and balanced amino acid profile (Gatlin et al. 2007, Nutr. Requir. Fish Shrimp 2011).

Soybean meal represents the most balanced profile of all plant proteins, having more than 90 % digestibility in freshwater omnivorous fish species. SBM after oil extraction, includes 44-48 % crude protein (NRC 1993).

There are several soybean products, which are excellent sources of plant protein such as fullfat SBM, hexane-extracted SBM, soy protein concentrates and soy protein isolates. However, even though full-fat and defatted SBM are good sources of digestible protein, they are low in lysine and methionine, high in ANFs and include low digestible non-starch polysaccharides (Moniruzzaman et al. 2020).

In addition, soybean includes anti-nutritional factors which have negative effects on digestion (Iwashita et al. 2008, Nutr. Requir. Fish Shrimp 2011, Teng et al. 2012) and can also cause enteritis (Refstie et al. 2000, Heikkinen et al. 2006, Krogdahl et al. 2015). Alongside these anti-nutritional factors, soybeans also have high levels of carbohydrates (Gordon 1993, Gatlin et al. 2007), which are not well digested, in particular by carnivorous fish species (Jobling 2011).

However, there are several known ways to eliminate or decrease the anti-nutritional factors in soybean.

Lectins and proteinase inhibitors can be decreased by heating during the feed-extrusion process (Barrows et al. 2007, Krogdahl et al. 2010, Bakke und A.M. 2011). Alcohol extraction decreases saponins, sterols and oligosaccharides (Krogdahl et al. 2010). Furthermore, fermentation or bioprocessing has been shown to eliminate or reduce several anti-nutritional factors as well (Hong et al. 2004, Refstie et al. 2005, Yamamoto et al. 2010, 2012).

2.3.1 Experimental diet

According to the result of Vorhees (J. M. Voorhees, M. E. Barnes 2019), bioprocessed soybean meal (BSM) can replace at least 80 % of the fish meal in adult rainbow trout. Adult rainbow trout have been investigated for a 125-day experiment fed BSM replacing 60 % or 80 % of dietary fish meal. At the end of the trial, there were no significant differences in growth parameters, percent mortality, intestinal morphology, splenosomatic-, viscerosomatic-, and hepatosomatic index among the experimental diets. The overall results of this study is similar to the previous experiments feeding SBM to rainbow trout (Yamamoto et al. 2010, 2012, Barnes et al. 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, Bruce et al. 2017, 2018). As reported by Yamamoto, replacing 100 % of fish meal with fermented SBM has similar results as 80 %, while Barnes et al found the maximum substitution of fishmeal without detrimental effect to be 70 % (Yamamoto et al. 2010, 2012, Barnes et al. 2012, 2013, 2014, 2013, 2014, 2015). In contrast with previous studies, according to Moniruzzaman et al. only 30 % of the fish meal could be replaced with fermented protein concentrate without negative effect (Moniruzzaman et al. 2020).

As a conclusion, this study indicates that at least 80 % of the dietary fish meal can be replaced by BSM in the diets of adult rainbow trout. There is no information about the suitability of dietary SBM extends additional during the trout life cycle, spawning or prior. Further research is needed to complete if the BSM can replace 100 % of the FM in adult rainbow trout diets.

SBM has some beneficial effects on other fish species as well. Total and partial replacement of FM in African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) with SBM at 75 % and 100 % results in higher

final body weight and specific growth rate (SGR), but no significant differences from the control (Goda et al. 2007).

SBM can be one of the most promising plant protein ingredients for catfish species as well. As the research of Shukla et al. (2018) established, liver catfish (*Heteropneustes fossilis*) fed with SBM up to 100 % replaced fishmeal, the fingerlings show maximum growth and the highest condition factor (K) compare with other plant based diets and the control diet.

In addition, studies have reported that fish meal can be successfully replaced by SBM in Pacific white shrimp (*Litopenaeus vannamei*).

2.3.2 Combination of SBM and corn gluten meal (CGM) in aquaculture diet

CGM is recovered from the wet milling process for the isolation of the starch, germ, protein and fibre components of corn and constitutes a good source of protein, containing at least 63 % protein and low fat (Fig. 6).

On the other hand, CGM also contains some ANFs and limited amino acids (Pereira und Oliva-Teles 2003, Moniruzzaman et al. 2020).

The mixture of SBM and CGM could increase the FM replacement level for aquatic animals (Lugner 2006).

Another study with turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus*) suggests that the FM level could be reduced by 30 % with a combined use of CGM-SBM with supplementation some elements as lysine, taurine and monocalcium phosphate (Sevgili et al. 2015). The nutrient composition of the whole body, fillet, viscera and liver were not affected significantly, however, whole body lipid levels were significantly lower in fish on 45 % and 60 % FM replacement levels than those on 100 % FM.

Ten diets were formulated for the experiment (Table 1), a high-protein fish meal (HFM) as a positive control and a low-protein fish meal (LFM) as a negative control. Eight experimental diets were prepared, consisting of four kinds of bioprocessed protein concentrates (BPCs) as a replacement of fish meal (BPC-A, -B, -C and -D) each at 30 % and 50 % FM replacement levels, where BPC-A was a solid-state fermented mixture of soybean and corn gluten meals;

BPC-B was pre-treated acid-hydrolysed BPC-A; BPC-C and BPC-D were BPC-A + 2 % shrimp soluble extract (SSE) and BPC-B + 2 % SSE. SBM and CGM was mixed and fermented by *Bacillus* spp. at pasteurization temperature, followed by a solid-state fermentation that allowed the mixed material goes to form into the solid state with addition of water.



Figure 6: Production processes of BPCs from SBM and CGM (Moniruzzaman et al. 2020).

Table 1: Composition of the experimental diets in juvenile Pacific white shrimp(Moniruzzaman et al. 2020).

Ingredients ^a	HFM	LFM	30BPC-A	30BPC-B	30BPC-C	30BPC-D	50BPC-A	50BPC-B	50BPC-C	50BPC-D
High fish meal, HFM ^b	270	0.00	189	189	189	189	135	135	135	135
Low fish meal, LFM ^c	000	286	000	000	000	000	000	000	000	000
BPC-A	000	000	95	000	000	000	152	000	000	000
BPC-B ^d	000	000	000	95	000	000	000	152	000	000
BPC-C	000	000	000	000	95	000	000	000	152	000
BPC-D	000	000	000	000	000	95	000	000	000	152
SBM 44%, South America	270	270	270	270	270	270	270	270	270	270
Squid liver powder	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40
Meat, bone meal	30	30	30	30	30	30	30	30	30	30
Wheat flour	303	303	303	303	303	303	303	303	303	303
Fish oil	15	23	20	20	20	20	23	23	24	23
Lecithin powder 97%	20	20	20	20	20	20	20	20	20	20
Lysine	000	000	4	4	000	000	6	6	000	000
Methionine	000	000	0.6	0.6	000	000	1	1	000	000
Others ^e	52	52	52	52	52	52	52	52	52	52
Total	1000	1000	1000	1000	1000	1000	1000	1000	1000	1000
Proximate composition (g	kg ⁻¹ of	dry matte	r basis)							
Moisture	105	104	105	104	105	105	107	106	105	109
Crude protein	409	402	412	414	410	419	416	415	410	404
Crude lipid	88	89	91	91	90	89	91	88	91	92
Ash	88	95	93	91	91	86	90	89	88	86

^a Feedstuffs not mentioned here are the same feedstuffs as domestic aquaculture feed companies are using currently.

^b Norse LT-94[®], low-temperature dried fish meal, Norsildmel, Bergen, Norway.

^c Vietnamese local fish meal.

^d AQUATIDE65 (AT-65) provided by CJ CheilJedang Corporation, Seoul, Republic of Korea.

^e Others: amygluten (10 g kg⁻¹), blood meal (10 g kg⁻¹), minerals (10 g kg⁻¹), vitamins (12 g kg⁻¹), cholesterol (0.2 g kg⁻¹) and CMC (10 g kg⁻¹) in all the diets.

Shrimps were fed one of the diets four times a day, at a level of 4 % of wet body weight in the first 4 weeks and 3 % in the second 4 weeks (Moniruzzaman et al. 2020). The total weight was determined every 2 weeks. At the end of the feeding trial, all shrimp were weighed and calculated the growth parameters such as weight gain (WG), feed efficiency, SGR and digestive enzymes (lipase, amylase, protease) activities.

At the end of the trial, among the several experimental feeding diets, the BPC-B, BPC-C and BPC-D diets at 30 % of FM replacement were the most effective and were associated with significantly higher weight gain and specific growth grain. Nonetheless, shrimp fed the HFM, LFM, BPC-B, BPC-C and BPC-D diets showed no significant differences of WG and SGR at 30 % of FM replacement level.

Other feeding studies were conducted to determine the optimal replacement rate of FM at the pacific white shrimp and it was found that 20 % of FM (Table 2) could successfully replace with fermented SBM (Shao et al. 2019), while another study suggested that it was possible to fully replace of FM by SBM under pond conditions (Amaya et al. 2007). Conversely, Qiu und Davis have reported that a plant-based spray-dried fermented biomass can only replace up to 50 % of FM (Qiu und Davis 2018). According to the present study, the 50 % FM replacement

level is not successful in the diet of pacific white shrimp, may be because of the high level of ANFs in the BPCs such as saponin and other ANFs.

Similarly, pre-treated acid-hydrolysed ingredients could partially replace FM in the diet of the juvenile pacific white shrimp thanks to the fermentation process. Indeed, result shows that shrimp fed the BPC-D diet at 30 % FM replacement showed an improved health status compared to the other diets. Moreover, the study also showed that the addition of amino acids such as methionine and lysine in BPC cannot replace 30 % of FM.

This may indicate that the acid hydrolysis is an important step to remove ANFs in the diet ingredients and without it, the 30 % FM replacement with BPC can be attainable only if we add 2 % SSE in BPC.

Acid hydrolysis is an important process, which can be widely used to treat lignocellulosic materials to obtain sugars (monosaccharide). Protic acid is used to catalyse the cleavage of a chemical bond with the addition of the elements of water. Compared with other methods, acid hydrolysis brings higher sugar yield and good reproducible (Chen 2015).

Although the results show that the pre-treated acid-hydrolysed BPC with supplementation of crystalline amino acids (lysine and methionine) and pre-treated acid-hydrolysed BPC with the high values of digestive enzyme, the BPC-B and BPC-D diets, and HFM showed better achievement over the other diets in the present study (Moniruzzaman et al. 2020).

Ingredients	HFM	LFM	BPC-A	BPC-B	BPC-C	BPC-D	BPC-E	SBM	CGM	SOY-T
Fish meal	536	375	375	375	375	375	375	375	375	375
Wheat flour	312	218	218	218	218	218	218	218	218	218
Soybean meal	98	68.6	68.6	68.6	68.6	68.6	68.6	68.6	68.6	68.6
Soybean lecithin	24	16.8	16.8	16.8	16.8	16.8	16.8	16.8	16.8	16.8
Fish oil	20	14	14	14	14	14	14	14	14	14
Vitamin premix	5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5
LFM	000	300	000	000	000	000	000	000	000	000
BPC ^b	000	000	300	300	300	300	300	000	000	000
SBM	000	000	000	000	000	000	000	300	000	000
CGM	000	000	000	000	000	000	000	000	300	000
SOY-T	000	000	000	000	000	000	000	000	000	300
Chromic oxide	5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5
Total	1000	1000	1000	1000	1000	1000	1000	1000	1000	1000
Proximate composi	tion (g kg ⁻¹	of dry matte	er basis)							
Moisture	92	89	98	98	97	97	98	95	101	101
Crude protein	458	451	444	454	461	455	449	403	423	413
Crude lipid	95	87	77	59	76	77	73	65	61	64
Ash	94	93	68	71	68	74	71	69	54	71

Table 2: Comparison the experimental diets for digestibility evaluation in juvenile Pacific white shrimp (Moniruzzaman et al. 2020).

^a Values are means from triplicate groups of fish where the values in each row with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05). ^b BPC, bioprocessed protein concentrate, it denotes each of the BPC diets contains 300 g kg⁻¹ BPC-A, BPC-B, BPC-C, BPC-D or BPC-E according to the name of diet.

supplementation of 2 % SSE has a better digestibility than other plant protein-based diets. The enzyme activity determined that all the experimental diets are well digested by shrimp, whereas

As a conclusion, this research demonstrated that partial replacement of high-protein FM with high quality fermented protein concentrates from plant sources is successful in the diet of pacific white shrimp. Shrimps fed with BPC-B, BPC-C and BPC-D diets at 30 % FM replacement level as well as BPC-D diet at 50 % FM replacement showed significantly higher growth performance than the other experimental diets.

2.3.3 SBM with addition of wheat gluten and corn gluten in fish diet

Diets of rainbow trout were prepared in which fishmeal (from Kilka, *Clupeonella* sp.) was replaced at levels of 40 %, 70 % and 100 % with experimental plant sources (wheat gluten, CGM and SBM) to reach similar levels of proteins, lipid and energy (Table 3). Results from this feeding experiment have suggested that incorporation had no detectable effects up to 40 %. However, the group for which fish meal was replaced with 70 % and 100 % plant protein resulted in decrease WG, SGR, and DGR (daily growth rate) and increased feed conversion ratio (FCR). The condition factor was the lowest in fish diet complete replacement of fish meal with plant sources. Similarly, serum total immunoglobulin and alternative complement activity

were unchanged at 40 % inclusion level but were degraded when more vegetal proteins were incorporated (Jalili et al. 2013, Table 4).

In the first of the th	Dietary tr	Dietary treatments						
Ingredients (g.kg ⁻)	control	40%	70%	100%				
Kilka fish meal	582.5	350.0	182.5	-				
Wheat gluten	-	155	260	420				
Corn gluten	-	55	110	100				
Soybean meal	-	150	150	150				
Kilka fish oil	128.9	140.6	161.3	185.7				
Blood meal	40	40	40	40				
Wheat meal	145		-	-				
Wheat starch	52.5	49.4	8.0	-				
Filler	-	-	28.2	37.3				
Zeolite	5	5	5	5				
Vitamin premix ¹	15	15	15	15				
Mineral premix ²	10	10	10	10				
L-methionine	12	12	12	12				
L-lysine	0	8	8	15				
Di-calcium phosphate	5	5	5	5				
Calcium carbonate	5	5	5	5				
Proximate composition (%	dry matter)							
Moisture	8.1	7.6	8.2	8.1				
Crude protein	45.3	44.5	45.1	45.5				
Crude lipid	19.9	19.8	20.1	19.8				
Crude starch	14.9	15.0	14.9	15.4				
Gross energy (kcal/g)3	5.04	5.03	5.05	5.04				

Table 3: Composition and ingredients of experimental diet (Jalili et al. 2013).

Table 4: Growth parameters of rainbow trout fed with experimental diets (Jalili et al. 2013).

D.C.	Dietary treatments ²						
Performance parameters	control	40%	70%	100%			
Initial body weight (g)	15.6±0.2ª	15.5±0.3ª	15.1±0.1ª	15.5±0.1ª			
Final body weight (g)	71.1±2ª	69.0±2ª	56.9±1 ^b	47.9±3°			
Weight Gain (g/fish)	55.4±2ª	53.5±1ª	41.7±1 ^b	32.4±3°			
FCR	$0.97 \pm 0.07^{\circ}$	1.04±0.03°	1.17±0.03 ^b	1.33±0.04ª			
SGR	1.13±0.02 ^a	1.11±0.01 ^a	0.99 ± 0.01^{b}	0.84±0.05°			
HIS	1.49±0.05ª	1.42±0.05 ^a	1.29±0.11ª	1.46±0.08ª			
VSI	14.0±0.3ª	14.2±0.5 ^a	14.5±0.6ª	14.4±0.2ª			
CF	1.14±0.01 ^a	$1.14{\pm}0.05^{a}$	1.18±0.04 ^a	1.06±0.5 ^b			

¹Values are means ± SD Values with the same superscripts within the same row are not significantly different.

²See Table 1 for the abbreviations of dietary treatments.

These results are consistent with those reported by Bell and Torstensen where substituting 30 % and 35 % fish meal with wheat gluten based plant ingredients did not adversely affect fish growth in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) and Atlantic halibut (Storebakken et al. 2000, Gordon Bell et al. 2002, Torstensen et al. 2004, Helland und Grisdale-Helland 2006). It is also in accordance with the results that substitution of 50 % of fishmeal with corn gluten in Atlantic salmon had no detrimental effects (Mente et al. 2003). Although it appears that inclusion of higher level of plant ingredients in salmonids diets has adverse effects on fish performance (Francesco et al. 2004, Gaylord et al. 2006, Palmegiano et al. 2006, Drew et al. 2007).

2.3.4 SBM with groundnut in fish diet

Groundnut meal (GNM) is highly palatable for fish, it also has better binding properties for pelleting compared to soybean (Lovell 1998) and has valuable vitamin B, E and K content. The drawback of groundnut meal is that they can be the deficient of several essential amino acids including methionine, cysteine and lysine. This amino acid quality can be improved either enrichment with the deficient amino acids (Friedman 1996, Eyo und A.A 1998, Eyo und Olatunde 1998) or the addition of the other protein sources (Ovie und Ovie 2010).

Seven experimental diets were formulated for liver catfish (*Heteropnuestes fossilis*), where the control diet was based on fish meal, another diet was traditional feed what is used for carp farming and five diets were formulated by partially and fully replacement of FM with SBM and GNM (Shukla et al. 2018).

Parameters	D ₁	D_2	D ₃	D ₄	D ₅	D ₆	D ₇
Average final body	17.21 ^{ab}	23.92 ^a	16.80 ^b	20.88^{a}	19.33 ^{ab}	15.88 ^b	18.58 ^{ab}
weight (g)	±1.12	± 0.80	±1.92	± 1.34	±1.17	±1.90	±1.52
% WG	102.11	169.67	104.13	135.40	125.55	85.73	115.29
SGR	0.46	0.66	0.47	0.57	0.54	0.41	0.51
FCR	16.72	10.08	17.69	11.34	15.84	20.24	12.59
PER	0.25	0.32	0.18	0.30	0.24	0.15	0.29
Condition factor K	0.60	0.67	0.60	0.64	0.62	0.59	0.64
Total fish biomass	344.2	478.4	336	417.6	386.6	317.6	371.6
harvested (g)		(+38.98)	(-2.38)	(+21.32)	(+12.32)	(-7.72)	(+7.96)
Return (@`200/kg)	68.8	95.6	67.2	83.4	77.2	63.4	74.2
Total feed given (kg)	1.457	1.518	1.516	1.362	1.704	1.484	1.253
Feed cost/ Kg ()	20.4	25.6	22.1	22.85	20.8	23.85	14.9
Total feed cost (`)	29.73	38.86	33.51	31.12	49.10	35.39	18.66
		(+30.70)	(+12.71)	(+4.6)	(+65.15)	(+19.04)	(-37.24)
Net profit (`)	39.07	56.74	33.69	52.28	28.10	28.01	55.54
		(+45.23)	(-13.77)	(+33.81)	(-28.07)	(-28.31)	(+42.15)

Table 5: Growth parameters and economic evaluation at the end of the experiment (Shukla et al 2018).

The average body weight, % WG, SGR and protein efficiency ratio (PER) at the end of the culture period, were observed to be highest in diet with 100 % replaced with SBM and lowest in diet with the mixture of SBM and GNM for 100% to replace fish meal (Table 5). Groundnut meal shows acceptability up to 50 % in diet in place of fish meal. When it is replaced at 100 % the fish meal, the growth parameters get deteriorated. According to (Nguyen et al. 2009), the combination of groundnut meal with some other plant protein ingredients can result in growth enhancement. In contracts with above mentioned research, the study cannot confirm it, because the diet with 100 % replace fish meal having combination of SBM and GNM does not give encouraging results.

The low feed utilization, feed intake and growth performance of the diet with 50 % replaced fish meal with GNM and the diet with mixture of SBM and GNM for 100 % replaced fish meal might be because of the deficiency of sulphur containing amino acids such as lysine, methionine and cysteine (Jauncey 1998) moreover the deficient of vitamin B12 and calcium in groundnut meal.

The experiment documented the maximum growth of fingerlings of liver catfish (*H. fossilis*) in diet with 100 % replaced fish meal with SBM, followed by diet with 50 % replaced fish meal with SBM, and the diet with 50 % replaced fish meal with GNM.

The present study demonstrates the acceptability of the SBM at 50 % and 100 % level by *H. fossilis* without any deteriorating effect (Shukla et al. 2018).

The diet containing 50% of GNM in place of fish meal performed better than diet containing 100 % groundnut. Similar results were observed in the study of (Jackson et al. 1982). He documented in a study for Tilapia species, that groundnut cake can replace up to 25 % of fish meal, but at higher levels the growth rate decreases.

Studies in channel catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*) have shown that a complete replacement of fish meal by SBM or some other ingredients like cotton seed meal or meat with bone meal did not results in growth impairment or reduced feed efficiency (Reigh 1999, Li et al. 2000). Furthermore, Nyirenda used SBM as an only protein source in the diets of Oreochromis Karongae and observed higher growth rate in term of SGR and fish yield (Nyirenda, J., Mwabumba, M. et al. 2000).

The condition factor (K) of the fish shows physical and biological characteristics and fluctuations by interaction among the feeding condition, parasitic infection and physiological factors (Cren 1951) with assessment of the fish condition (Lambert und Dutil 1997) based on weight at a given length (indicating energy reserves in fish). In the above mentioned study the maximum value of 'K' was recorded in diet with fully replace fish meal with SBM followed by diet with 50 % replace fish meal with SBM and the traditional carp diet. Diets with different inclusion levels of GNM ended up at the end list. The values of 'K' in the diet 100 % and 50 % replace fish meal with SBM, and the traditional diet were higher than the control which reflects that fish fed with diet containing SBM replaced fish meal and diet without fish meal were more potent than fish fed with the control diet.

As a conclusion the present study clearly documents that 100 % of replacement of fish meal with SBM in catfish diet is a balanced high quality diet.

Hence it can be concluded, that SBM can be one of the most promising plant protein ingredients for catfish species.

2.4 Canola/Rapeseed in the aquatic diet

The name of canola and rapeseed refers to plants from the genus *Brassica* in particular, *Brassica napus* and *Brassica rapa* that are farmed throughout the world (Table 6). Canola/ rapeseed meal has relatively higher protein content compared to other oilseed meals, except SBM. The amino acid balance of canola protein makes it one of the best available commercial protein sources according to Friedman (1996), moreover its price is quiet economical, it is about half of the cost of fish meal per kg of protein.

The minimum crude protein content for Canadian canola meal is 36 %. Canola meal has a good amino acid profile for the animal feeding. Like the most plant protein based aquatic diet, canola meal has limited in lysine content, but its methionine and cysteine levels are high. The crude fibre content is higher than the SBM, because the canola hulls stay with the meal. The carbohydrate content of the canola meal is quite complex and results in a significant contribution to a digestible energy. However, these carbohydrates are protected by the cells walls, so their effect is modest during digestion (Slominski und Campbell 1990, Bell 1993). Canola is a good essential minerals source, especially selenium and phosphorus, compared to other vegetable origin oilseed meals. About the vitamin content of the canola meal there is a limited information sources, but it seems to be rich in thiamine, riboflavin, choline, biotin and folic acid.

The use of canola/rapeseed meal has been found no to have significant adverse and negative effects on the weight, size, carcass quality, taste or other physiological features of the animals.

Rank	Country	Production
1	Canada	12642900
2	China	12102010
3	India	5833000
4	Germany	5154700
5	France	4719053
6	Ukraine	2872800
7	Poland	2105840
8	UK	1973030
9	Australia	1615000
10	Czech Republic	1048943
11	Russia	752200
12	Romania	673033
13	USA	660334
14	Hungary	651500
15	Denmark	629200
16	Belarus	513959
17	Slovakia	424444
18	Iran	390000
19	Pakistan	390000
20	Lithuania	330200
	WORLD	57856158

Table 6: The world's top canola/ rapeseed producers (tones) by countries in 2010 (Enami 2011a).

Source: Faostat.fao.org (2010)

The drawback factors for using canola meal in the aquatic diet are the anti-nutritional ingredients such as glucosinolates (GLs), phenolic compounds (tannins and sinapine), phytate and relatively high fibre content, includes 14.5 % cellulose, 5 % hemicellulose and 8.3 % lignin. Canola contains small amounts of heat labile (glucosinolates) and heat stable (phytic acid, phenolic compounds, tannins and fibre) anti-nutritional factors. The traditionally rapeseed meal includes 120-150 mikromol/g of total glucosinolates. The cultivation and use of canola/rapeseed meal by different aquaculture farms has shown a progressive trend in Iran and other countries in recent years. As the supplied table shows, the Iranian and Canadian canola meals contain approximately only 7.2 mikromol/g (Enami 2011a, Table 7).

 Table 7: Comparison the compounds of the Iranian and Canadian rapeseed meal (Enami 2011a).

Ingredients (%)	Iranian rapeseed meal*	Canadian rapeseed meal
Moisture	12.0	12.0 ^b
Ash	6.7	6.01%
CP	37.57	36.0 ^b
EE	1.8	3.50'
CF	13.97	11.70 ^b
Ca	0.74	0.62^4
P	1.13	1.064
Gls (µmol g ⁻¹)	5.74	7.204
Sinapin	0.78	1.00

CP: Crude Protein; EE: Ether Extract; CF: Crude Fiber; Ca: Calcium; P: Phosphorous; GIs: Glucosinolates; *ORDC (Oil Research and Development Company)- Quality Control lab., 1993(unpublished data); *Newkirk (2009), Bell (1993), Slominski and Campbell (1990), *Bell and Keith (1991), Bell *et al.* (1999)

There are several different types of glucosinolates and each of these products has a negative effect on the animal. They have adverse effects on the thyroid hormone production and liver function (Hardy und Sullivan 1983). Furthermore, besides the toxic effect of the glucosinolate, its bitter taste leads to a reduced feed intake for several animals (Bell 1993, R. 1994). This can be avoided by limiting the amount of canola meal in the diet as dietary inclusion of canola meal below 30 % results in glucosinolate content 2.650 mikromol/kg (Higgs et al. 1983).

There are many others components in canola meal, which may have anti-nutrient effects (Bell 1993).

Tannins and sinapine do not appear to have negative effects like the anti-nutritional factors, but they reduce appetence of the feed and potentially impact the feed intake (Clandidnin.D.R. 1961). Although according to Qiao and Classen 2003 (Qiao und Classen 2003), the bitter taste of sinapine in the canola meal does not affect the feed intake or growth rate.

Finally, the canola meal's energy and protein content are too low to be widely used as a feed ingredient in the aquaculture (Enami 2011b).

Despite these limitations, it is important to note that the nutritional value of the canola/rapeseed meal depends on the oil extraction method and process.

There are several factors which can affect the nutritional quality and value of canola meal: the residual oil content of the meal, the levels of glucosinolates and their products and the level of heat imparted during oil extraction.
The protein quality can similarly be influenced by the processing steps of the production. Remarkably, excess heating during oil extraction processes can result reduced digestibility of protein and some amino acids, like lysine.

Plant breeders in Iran have worked on improvement of quality of the plant to reduce both erucic acid and glucosinolates content. They achieved to reduce the glucosinolates content up to 77.3 % and enchanced the rapeseed production area with 20 and 26 times.

Canola Protein Concentrate (CPC) by aqueous extraction of protein (Mwachireya et al. 1999, Thiessen et al. 2004) has the same crude protein levels as fish meal and a higher methionine and lysine levels compared to corn gluten and SBM. This extraction process results in the complete removal of phytate, and only includes extremely low levels of glucosinolates in a CPC and allow a higher level of fish meal replacement in aqua feeds. Research by Thiessen has suggested that CPC can replace up to 75 % of fish meal without any adverse effects in growth or feed efficiency (Thiessen et al. 2004).

Canola meal is commonly used in the aquaculture diets for both fish and shrimp species, such as trout, carp, tilapia, bass and sea bream.

Hardy and Sullivan (Hardy und Sullivan 1983) have reported that replacement with canola at 20 % did not affect the weight gain of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) while reducing feed costs were reduced by US\$ 18.7 per metric ton. A negative effect, was the impairment of the thyroid function. Dietary rapeseed can induce thyroid hypertrophy, reduced levels of intrathyroidal iodothyronines, depressed plasma-protein-bound iodide or thyroxine titers, and histopathological changes in thyroid (Higgs D.A., J.R. Markert, D.W.MacQuarrie 1979) moreover, thyroid hormone synthesis and peripheral monodeiodination of thyroxine (T4) to 3.5,3'-triiodo-e-thyronine (T3)(Yurkowski et al. 1978, Higgs D.A., J.R. Markert, D.W.MacQuarrie 1979, Higgs et al. 1982). According to Hardy and Sullivan rapeseed meal may comprise up to 22 % of the diet for rainbow trout (Yurkowski et al. 1978), without reducing growth or plasma T4 concentrations, although thyroid hypertrophy or hyperplasia may result at higher levels of substitution.

2.4.1 Canola meal for shrimp

A study by Lim (Lim et al. 1997) was conducted on using canola /rapeseed meal for shrimp diets. High-fibre canola meal and low-fibre canola meal were used for juvenile pacific white shrimp (*Penaeus vannamei*). At the end of the study one or more fibre-reduced and solvent-extracted canola protein products were found to represent cost-effective replacement for fish meal protein. Another experiment improved the nutritional value of canola meal by addition of enzymes in diets for juvenile giant tiger prawn (*Penaeus monodon*). As a result, the live weight gain was higher and showed better FCR for the low- fibre canola meal with added enzyme diets than the other experimental feeds (Buchanan et al. 1997).

A trial diet with soybean and canola meal promises for pacific white shrimp was also successful for a long term period and in clear water (*Litopenaeus vannamei*)(Suárez et al. 2009).

Moreover, adding extruded canola meal in the diet for blue shrimp (*Litopenaeus stylirostris*) results in no significant effect on performance (Cruz-Suarez et al. 2001).

2.4.2 Canola meal for fish

Canola meal has been used already for over 20 years as a feed ingredient in salmon and trout diets.

Canola meal is used in salmonid diets at up to 20 % inclusion levels but it is possible further replacement of fish meal in the diet for highly valued species (Newkirk 2009). None of the experimental diet trials using canola meal resulted in any significant adverse effect on animal performance or on other factors, furthermore, it can reduce the total cost of the diets. Replacing SBM about 31 % of the diet with canola meal for channel catfish without adversely affecting growth or other performance, is also a benefit of the canola meal (Lim 1998).

According to Erdugan and Olmez, (Erdogan und Olmez 2009), low-level canola incorporation content of canola in the diet of angel fish (*Pterophyllum scalare*) can result in higher weigh gain and adding of cellulose enzymes in different ratios to the diet, does not lead to any adverse effects in growth parameters and digestibility.

It has been documented, that protein from canola meal can replace up to 10 % of the fish meal protein (Viegas et al. 2008) in the diet of Nile tilapia without adverse effects, although, this is likely an underestimate and other studies have suggested that the tolerable levels of canola meal

can be higher. For example, in another experiment, Nile tilapia were fed diets containing 24.7 % CPC, for replacing fish meal, SBM and CGM (Borgeson et al. 2006) As a result, the fish group receiving the CPC diet have been grown significantly faster (2.29 g/ day) than the control diets group (1.79 g /day).

Moreover, research by Thiessen et al (Thiessen et al. 2004) recorded that CPC can replace up to 75 % of fish meal without any adversely affects in growth or feed efficiency.

Canola meal is a potential plant protein based source to replace substantial levels of fish meal in diets for carnivorous fish (rainbow trout)(Shafaeipour et al. 2008). Study performed by Safari and Boldaji (O. Safari und F.Boldaji. 1985) documented that canola meal up to 40 % in the diet of rainbow trout to substitute fishmeal is more effective because of the improvement of the growth performance compared to 40 % SBM. High levels of fibre, alone or together with phytate influences negatively the digestibility of canola meal products for rainbow trout.

As a conclusion it is recommended to add some amounts of canola meal to fishmeal in the diet to increase the diet mass which leads to decreasing the feed intake by animals.

The secondary plant compounds such as glucosinolates and tannins can be eliminated or reduced by new processing technologies to increase the nutritional properties of canola meal. Because of the low energy and protein content of the canola it is not widely used as a feed ingredient in the aquaculture, but the processed form or the Canola Protein Concentrate could play an important role in the substitution of fishmeal in the aquatic animals.

2.5 Cottonseed in aquaculture diets

Cottonseed, *Gossypium hirsutum* Linnaeus is one of the leading plant protein source (third after soybean and rapeseed) worldwide (Gatlin et al. 2007) and, while more expensive than other vegetal protein sources, it is still available at lower cost than animal protein (Lovell 1989). Cottonseed meal (CSM) can be recovered from cottonseed using either, mechanical or solvent extraction.

Mechanical extraction is a traditional method of cottonseed oil extraction using a technology such as a hydraulic press or screw press. The resulting cake is dried and processed into large pellets. It is not a very efficient method and up to 20 % of the seed oil may remain in the pressed cake (Bailey's Ind. Oil Fat Prod. 2005). At the solvent extraction, the oil is extracted solvent alone in contrast with the mechanical extraction. The end product is heated to eliminate the solvent and then prepared into meal.

Nutritionally, cottonseed meals contain high levels of proteins (Forster LA 1995) which make them highly palatable and well digested by most aquatic animals (Li und Robinson 1995).

CSM is a partial replacement of SBM and it has been generally used at low levels in aquaculture. The presence of anti-nutritional factors like phytic acid, gossypol and cyclopropenoid acid limits the usage of the cottonseed in the aquaculture diets. Furthermore, the relative costs of CSM compared with other protein sources and the higher nutritive value of soybean meal recommend for using low levels of cottonseed meal in the aqua feed (Li und Robinson 2006).

Several research observed gossypol content in the CSM which is described as an anti-nutritional factor. It has high impact on the growth, carcass composition and pathological changes in the fish.

Furthermore, CSM is relatively low in some essential amino acids, such as lysine, cysteine and methionine.

2.5.1 Anti-nutritional factors in the CSM

Phytates works as strong chelators and mold protein-phytic acid complexes, which are available in 70 % of the phosphorus in feedstuffs of plant origin. These may reduce the bioavaibility of protein (Spinelli et al. 1983) and minerals, such as zinc, manganese, copper, molybdenum, calcium, magnesium, and iron (RR 1977).

Cyclopropenoic fatty acids (CFAs) in the diet cause lesions, increase glycogen deposition and elevate saturated fatty acid concentration in the liver in rainbow trout (Struthers et al. 1975a, 1975b). Furthermore, CFAs have been associated with hepatomas in rainbow trout (Hendricks

et al. 1980) and act as are potent carcinogen, in particular in the presence of aflatoxins (Wales und Sinnhuber 1972).

Dietary CFAs changes the activity of many liver enzymes (Eisele et al. 1983) which may explain the accumulation of the saturated fatty acids in the liver of fish (Roehm et al. 1970). Gossypol is a fat-soluble, natural polyphenol and yellow compound of cotton plants. It is toxic to fish (Herman 1970, Rinchard et al. 2000) and terrestrial animals (Colin-Negrete et al. 1996) although it has several positive properties, contains anti-parasitic, anti-bacterial, and antioxidant factors (Bickford et al. 1954, Margalith 1967, Montamat et al. 1982, Wichmann et al. 1982, Heidrich et al. 1983).

CSM contains gossypol, in an amount that varies depending on the cotton species and some environmental factors (Boatner et al. 1949, Cherry et al. 1978).

Gossypol can accumulate in various tissues in aquatic animals, the highest concentration is in the liver and the lowest in the muscle. It has been reported that Pacific white shrimp fed diets containing CSM at 500 mg/kg or more caused light yellow-greenish colouration (Lim 1996).

Gossypol exists in two forms, either in bound or in free from. The bound form, in which gossypol is bound with free amino groups of protein, has little significance to animals because it passes unabsorbed through the gastrointestinal tract (Evans 1985, Thacker und Kirkwood 2017). In contrast, the free form, is highly toxic for animals (Ogunji 2004) and is associated with reduced feed consumption, growth, hematocrits, hemoglobin, and reproductive capacity, and histological changes in various tissues and organs and rarely death.

Gossypol has been shown some detrimental effects on the reproduction capacity of mammals by affecting the reproductive tissues or gonadal and pituitary hormone secretion (Randel et al. 1992). A study from Dabrowski et al. (2001) found decreased sperm concentration in rainbow trout as dietary free gossypol increased from 0 mg/kg to 463 mg/kg. The sperm motility and fertilization rate stayed unaffected after 258 days of feeding.

A 3-year study summarized the effects of dietary gossypol on reproduction performance of rainbow trout and observed that long-term feeding of high levels of gossypol reduces sperm and egg quality. After the first year the fish showed reduced sperm concentration, egg weight and quality of feeding diets including total gossypol of 7.037–9.549 mg/kg compared with diets having lower gossypol levels. In the second year the reproductive performances were reduced (sperm and egg quality and progeny growth) (Lee und Dabrowski 2002). The effect of gossypol

and its maximum tolerance levels in multiple aquatic species have been reviewed by Li and Robinson in 2006 (Table 8).

Consequently, the Commission of the European Communities limits the amount of free gossypol in feed materials (with the exception of cottonseed, cottonseed meal and cottonseed cakes) at 20 mg/kg which amount has no adverse effects on growth and nutrient digestibility. The limit for the cottonseed and cottonseed meal are 5.000 mg/kg and 1.200 mg/kg (Anon 2009).

 Table 8: Tolerance and toxicity of free gossypol from cottonseed meal to fish and shrimp

 (use of cottonseed meal in the aquatic animal diet)(Li and Robinson 2006).

Species	Tolerance level (mg/kg)	Toxic level (mg/kg)	Gossypol source	Toxic effect	Reference
Channel catfish Ictalurus punctatus	900	1,137	CSM	Reduced growth, increased tissue gossypol	Dorsa et al. (1982)
	336	671	CSM	Reduced growth	Barros et al. (2000, 2002)
Blue tilapia Oreochromis aureus	1,800		GAA	No adverse effects were demonstrated at 1,800 mg free gossypol/kg of feed	Robinson et al. (1984)
Nile tilapia O. niloticus	1,600		GAA	No adverse effects were demonstrated at 1,600 mg free gossypol/kg of feed	Lim et al. (2003)
Tilapia Oreochromis spp.	520	700	CSM	Reduced growth and feed efficiency	Mbahinzireki et al. (2001)
Rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss	250	1,000	GAA	Reduced growth, increased liver gossypol level	Roehm et al. (1967)
	95	290	CSM	Reduced growth, lower hematocrits, hemoglobin and plasma protein, ceroid	Herman (1970)
	65	95	CSM	Thickening of the glomeralar basement membrane of the kidney, necrosis in the liver	Herman (1970)
	232	362	CSM	Reduced growth and hemoglobin	Dabrowski et al. (2001)
Pacific white shrimp Penaeus vannamei	1,100	1,600	CSM	Reduced feed intake, reduced growth, and high mortality	Lim (1996)

Toxic systemic effects include reduced haematocrit, haemoglobin, reproduction capacity as well as results lesions in some organs like in the liver, kidney, spleen and gonads but the mechanism behind the nutrient digestibility are unknown (Anon 2009). In rainbow trout, it has been shown a dietary level of 0.01 % free gossypol can cause liver damage. Similarly, Barros (Barros et al. 2000) observed that 55 % CSM in the diet of catfish can cause pancreas and liver necrosis. Moreover, inclusion at 0.03 % gossypol suppressed the growth in the rainbow trout (Gatlin et al. 2007). Similar growth depression was documented in channel catfish fed a diet including more than 900 mg free gossypol/kg (Dorsa et al. 1982). According to Makinde,

gossypol can cause haemolytic anaemia at high concentration besides having detrimental effects on growth and feed efficiency parameters (Makinde et al. 1997).

On the other hand, multiple studies have reported that inclusion of gossypol in the diet has no significant effect on liver glycogen deposition (Herman 1970, Barros et al. 2000, Evans et al. 2010) and some other fish species, like Nile tilapia can tolerate the high gossypol level in the diet without any adverse effect (Lovell 1998).

There are some methods, with which the gossypol can be partially or totally inactivated: by heat treatment (Herkelman et al. 1991, Bollini und Campion 1999, ElMaki et al. 2007), by soaking (Rani und Hira 1993, Duhan et al. 2002, ElMaki et al. 2007) by fermentation (Marfo et al. 1990, Antai und Nkwelang 1998) or supplementation of diets with enzymes hydrolysing this specific anti-nutrients (Southern et al. 1990, Sandberg und Svanberg 1991, Cheng und Hardy 2002, Portz und Liebert 2004, Sajjadi und Carter 2004) amino acids (Li und Robinson 1998, Fagbenro 1999) or minerals (Jones 1987, Martin 1990, El-Saidy und Gaber 2004). During these processes free gossypol binds to cottonseed protein, resulting in bound gossypol, which is no more toxic. Unluckily, this binding process reduces the protein quality because the free gossypol bond to amino acids, especially to lysine (Kuiken und Lyman 1948, Baliga und Lyman 1957, Conkerton et al. 1957).

Some experiments show promising results about the supplementation of iron as a ferrous sulphat to the cottonseed meal diet. The free gossypol bond to the iron to make a strong complex and as a result the gossypol become non-toxic. Iron has been used to bind with the toxic free gossypol and thereby reduce the toxicity at single-stomach animals (Jones 1987, Martin 1990, Sealey et al. 1997, Barros et al. 2002). El-Saidy and Gaber have documented improved growth, feed utilization and blood parameters for fish fed with CSM diet including 1:1 iron in free gossypol in contrast CSM diet without iron supplementation (El-Saidy und Gaber 2004). However, the ferrous sulfate to free gossypol at 1:1 weight ratio does not appear to be effective in reducing the toxicity to channel catfish (Barros et al. 2000, 2002). Another approaches, to minimize the gossypol level, is the addition of lysine and iron to the solvent extracted cottonseed meal is a good option. According to several studies the supplementation of lysine and iron to the CSM diet reduces the gossypol toxicities in fish (Robinson 1991, Robinson und Li 1994, Dabrowski et al. 2000, Rinchard et al. 2000, Lee et al. 2006).

Notably acetone can also decrease the gossypol and aflatoxin levels in the cottonseed meal and improved crude protein and amino acid digestibility (Cheng und Hardy 2002).

Although, CSM is digested relatively well by fish and crustaceans, it is less digestible than SBM and is severely deficient in several amino acids, including lysine, isoleucine, methionine and cysteine. This deficiency is these essential amino acids may be compensated by the use of a combination of animal and plant protein sources or by adding of synthetic amino acids (Robinson und Li 1994).

2.5.2 CSM effects on the growth

Despite the presence of these antinutritional factors and its lower nutritional values compared to that of SBM (Barros et al. 2002), it has some other advantages, such as being associated with lower FCR. This performance might be due to its higher fibre quality.

Gui's studies on crucian carp (*Cearassius auratus gibelio*) reported that using cottonseed meal hydrolysate (CMH) caused positive effect on growth and feed utilization (Gui et al. 2010).

According to Mbahinzireki, CSM can partially replace FM in the feed of tilapia up to 50 % of the diet (Mbahinzireki et al. 2001). However, these can also be associated with reduced farming performances and El-Sayed reported that juvenile Nile tilapia fed a diet including 65 % CSM displayed a 24 % reduction in weight gain and a 35 % reduction in feed efficiency compared with the control diet (fish meal based) (El-Sayed 1990). Similarly, Ofojekwu and Ejike documented that Nile tilapia fed with cottonseed cake diet results much lower weight gain and feed efficiency compared with the fishmeal based diet (Ofojekwu und Ejike 1984).

Lee et al (Lee et al. 2002) suggested that CSM can be used as a substitute for fish meal, by the incorporation of at least 15 % in diet. The high dietary supplementation of CSM up to 58,8/100 g or the complete substitution for FM in the diet has not adverse effects on growth of rainbow trout, brood stock and catfish (Lee et al. 2006). Luo has found that the fish fed with solvent extracted cottonseed meal at 100 % level shows significant lower weight gain, specific growth rate, feed conversion efficiency and protein efficiency ratio than fish fed with other diets (Luo et al. 2006).

According to Blom et al., CSM can be a suitable alternative for partial replacement for FM and SBM, with supplementary lysine content (Blom et al. 2001).

Moreover, (Lim und Lee 2009) concluded that the mixture of cottonseed with iron and phosphorus supplementation can be replaced up to 40 % fishmeal protein in diets for olive flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*). They suggested that 30 % of fishmeal protein replacement by CSM with some iron and phosphorus supplementation can be used for commercial. Furthermore, the supplementation of iron and phosphorus can also increase the inclusion of the CSM for fishmeal replacement for marine fish species.

Generally, CSM represents an economical alternative protein sources in aquatic animal feeds because it is relatively highly palatable to most aquatic animals. Although its use in the aquaculture largely depend on the animal's tolerance to gossypol, lysine and methionine requirements.

There is evidence that CSM can be used in high levels in aquatic animal feeds, but its use has limited to about 10 % to 15 % in the aquatic diet. Hence, it is recommended that low level of CSM can be included in the aqua feeds. Supplementation of lysine and required iron level would increase the maximum inclusion level of CSM. Moreover, it is advised to use solvent extracted CSM than pure CSM because solvent extraction decreases gossypol level while increasing the protein level.

However, more research is required in this aspect to know more about the effects of CSM in the fish diet.

2.6 Algae in the aquaculture diet

Algae represent a very diverse group of promising feedstuff. The amino acid profile of several algae match that of fishmeal and contain all essential amino acids, although the protein content shows significant differences among the species (8-50 %). Furthermore, almost all algae are rich in polyunsaturated fatty acid (n-3 LC-PUFA) and act as a good feed supplement for neutralising intestinal inflammation and also aid in the preparation of the feed pellet. Multiple studies have focused on the utilisation of algae as a potential ingredient for aqua feed development. The dose and the aquatic species influences the effect of algal inclusion in feed.

According to several studies, high inclusion level of algae in aqua feed has an adverse effect on fish growth and feed efficiency. This effect may be caused by the presence of anti-nutritional compounds, such as lectins, tannins, phytic acid, protease and amylase inhibitors in algae. In contrast, used at low inclusion level, algae are very useful ingredients for the aqua feed (Kaladharan und Jaseera 2019).

2.6.1 Spirulina in the aquatic diet

Spirulina (*Arthospira*) algae is a fast-growing, photosynthetic, filamentous blue-green microalga (Cyanobacteria). There are two common spirulina species which are used for diets due to the nutritional value; *Arthrospira maxima* and *Arthrospira plantesis*. These grow naturally in the Central Africa region around Lake Chad, Niger, East Africa near the Great Rift Valley and Mexico, where is used as a human food source (Habib et al. 2008) and contained in the diets of many fish, like Tilapia (Khallaf und Alne-na-ei 1987).

Normally, spirulina is produced with continuous-harvesting technology that support the exponential growth. The culturing costs depend on the technology and materials were used.

Spirulina represent a possible alternative protein source for cultured fish among the algae ingredients. Spirulina is a balanced ingredient for using in fish feeds (Table 9). Its nutritional profiles are well-documented. It has high protein content, between 41-63 % by dry weight. Cyanobacteria of the genus *Spirulina* contain all 10 amino acids considered essential for fish in suitable level, with the exception of methionine, cysteine and lysine that are only present at sub-optimal levels. These well-balanced amino acid content can make Spirulina as a potential replacer of fish meal in aqua feed (Hanel et al. 2007).

In addition, spirulina contains vitamins, essential fatty acids (MM et al. 2006), antioxidant pigments, such as carotenoids (Richmond 1986, Volkmann et al. 2008) and has antimicrobial activity (Richmond 1986, El-Sheekh et al. 2014) and anticancer properties (Dasgupta et al. 2001).

Table 9: Nutritional content of spirulina compared to fish meal (Mosha 2019).

	Spirulina	Brown fish meal
Proximate composition (g100g ⁻¹)		
Dry matter	82,2	92,28
Crude protein	61,3	67,44
Ash	6,90	12,76
Lipid	5,50	10,52
Crude fiber	3	1,46
Essential amino acids (g100g ⁻¹)		
Arginine	4,10	3,67
Lysine	3,10	1,55
Isoleucine	2,6	3,02
Leucine	4,7	4,84
Histidine	1	5,05
Methionine	1,37	1,87
Phenylalanine	2,5	2,69
Threonine	2,7	2,71
Tryptophan	1,2	0,72
Valine	0,3	3,41

Compared to fishmeal, spirulina has high amounts of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), furthermore, the mineral and vitamin content are also notable (Allen 2016).

Due to the lack of cellulose in the cell wall, the digestibility is high (Olvera-Novoa et al. 1998). It was reported that some fish species such as Nile tilapia showed increased digestibility and nutrients uptake through the gut fed with spirulina in their diets (Moriarty 1973).

Other positive effects have also been documented, such as increased feed utilization, physiological activity, stress response and disease resistance (Mustafa und Nakagawa 1995). Spirulina as a FM replacer has additional benefits like improving feed intake, growth and survival rate, boosting the immune system, improving fillet colour, firmness and reduction of the feeding costs (Watanuki et al. 2006, Ibrahem et al. 2013, Yeganeh et al. 2015, Allen 2016). Spirulina has also been correlated to an increased production of extra cellular enzymes like protease and lipase in red swordtail (James et al. 2006), attributed to the activation of protein synthesis and somatic growth which reduces the fish mortality.

Spirulina improves the fish reproduction as well (Lu und Takeuchi 2004). It was documented increased egg quality and quantity at the Nile Tilapia fed with Spirulina algae as a main feed.

Similar results have been conducted at goldfish (*Carassius auratus*) (James et al. 2006) swordtail (*Xiphophorous hellerii*)(James et al. 2006) and bassa (*Pangasius bocourti*) (Meng-Umphan 2009).

Furthermore, spirulina can be produced by low-cost technologies and can be marketed as dry powders and several studies have been conducted in both finfish and shellfish using dried spirulina powders as a supplement in the diets with successful results (Braune 1990, Zeinhom 2004).

In finfish culture, Ayyappan et al clearly demonstrated better growth rate by feeding spirulina meals for carps (Ayyappan et al. 1991). According to Nadeesha and Guroy the body weight gains of fish increased with the level of less than 25 % algae in the fish diet (Nandeesha et al. 2001, Güroy et al. 2012). Rainbow trout showed the highest weight gain when FM was replaced with 7.5 % Spirulina algae (Teimouri et al. 2013).

Similarly, the usefulness of the spirulina for replacing up to 40 % of FM protein has been reported in Nile tilapia diets (Olvera-Novoa et al. 1998). Tilapia have been feed with a diet which contains 43 % spirulina, shows better FCR than CGM control feed, in addition without adversely affect the growth and feed intake. Similarly, silver seabream (*Pagrus auratus*) fed with 50 % of spirulina in the diet, did not suffer negative growth effects compared to the control diet (FM)(El-Sheekh et al. 2014).

In addition, good results have been reported in shellfish culture, such as white shrimp (*Litopenaeusschmitti*) (Jaime-Ceballos et al. 2005), in pacific white shrimp (*Litopenaeus vannamei* (Hanel et al. 2007) and green tiger prawn (*Penaeus semisulcatus*) (Ghaeni et al. 2011). The giant fresh water prawn (*Macro brachium rosenbergii*) feed a diet supplemented with spirulina at 5-20 % of the diet significantly improved growth, survival and feed utilization. Fish meal partial replacement with spirulina has also been evaluated in juvenile Pacific white shrimp (*Litopenaeus vannamei*) with positive result (Hanel et al. 2007).

Ornamental fish such as Guppy fish fed diets with algae cells have also shown positive growth performance (Dernekbasi et al. 2010).

However, other studies have found that high spirulina inclusion results in depressed growth rate. Sharma de Panta and El-Sayed documented that Spirulina addition above 30 % in the diet decrease the fish growth (El-Sayed 1994, Sharma und Panta 2012). According to Olvera-Novoa, there is a significant difference in the growth rates if the diets containing 10 % and 20 % spirulina protein or 40 %. As a result, 40 % spirulina in the diet causes halved growth rates than the diets with 10 % and 20 % algae protein (Olvera-Novoa et al. 1998).

The reasons for the variable results to be the difference of spirulina concentration, source, raw or dried, fish species and other conditions.

As a conclusion, due to the nutritional composition and the relative digestibility of spirulina algae, it should be a viable alternative protein source in the aqua feed. Furthermore, for the effective fish growth performance, quality of fillets, immune system modulation and low feed costs, the additional level of spirulina should be less than 20 % in the fish diet. More research is needed for the high inclusion level of spirulina up to 50 % to be evaluating its effectiveness.

2.6.2 Thraustochytrids

Thraustochytrids, are non-photosynthetic microalgae and represents one of the richest source of PUFA on the market. They are osmo-heterotrophic monocentric fungi with more than 30 species. They are classified under kingdom Heterokonta and class Labyrinthulomycetes. Approximately, Thraustochytrids produce total fat of about 10-50 % of biomass and 30-70 % of docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) under non optimised condition. This omega-3-fatty acid is required for optimal growth and fish development, furthermore it is relevant for the development of neural tissues such as brain and retina.

The production capability for biomass, total lipids and DHA content fluctuates wide largely, influenced by medium composition, incubation temperature, pH, culture age and seawater concentration.

According to several studies on fish, Thraustochytrid oil can be used as a sufficient alternative to fish oil.

The addition of dried marine microalgae (*Schizochytrium*) in the diet of channel catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*), at low concentration about at 1.0-1.5 %, results in an improved weight gain with feed efficiency ratio (Kaladharan und Jaseera 2019).

Another study showed that spray-dried biomass of *Schizochytrium* sp. included at 5 % in the diet of Atlantic salmon successfully replaced fish oil without any adverse effect on fish growth rate and FCR, dietary protein, energy digestibility and flesh quality. Similar fish oil replacement study was made with Nile tilapia and reflected significant improved weight gain, feed conversion ratio, protein efficiency ratio and higher content of DHA in the fillet lipids.

Similarly, it has also been reported that feeding of Pacific white shrimp (*L. vannamei*) larvae with *Schizochytrium* meal (4 %) can improve the growth performance.

Consequently, several countries around the world are producing omega-3 rich oils from Thraustochytrids as a possible improved and alternative sources of PUFA.

It has been concluded that heterotrophic microalgae like *Schizochytrium* sp. are promising aqua cultural feedstuff aquaculture species due to their nutritional quality and ability.

The mass cultivation technology of *Schizochytrium* is fully developed and can be produced commercially instead of fish oil in the near future.

2.7 Distiller's dried grains with soluble (DDGS) in the aquatic diet

DDGS is the major by-product of ethanol production and used as a high-protein animal feed. It is a dried by-product leftover from the fermentation of corn by enzymes and yeast producing ethanol and carbon dioxide. It is characterised by a high energy content, medium protein quantity, digestible fibres and accessible phosphorus which makes it a sustainable fish feed with a high nutritional value. Furthermore, its lack known anti-nutritional factors (Erickson et al. 2012). The apparent digestibility coefficient of DDGS of protein was 94.42 % and of dry matter 76.23 % (Sandor et al. 2016).

The availability of DDGS as a feed ingredient is increasing with the increase of biofuel industry (Liu 2011, Brown et al. 2016). DDGS, have several benefits like suitable protein content (26-33 %), fat content (9-14 %) and phosphorus content (7-10 %) for the aquatic animal feeds and increased global production. They include high quantity of non-starch polysaccharides but it

does not contain anti-nutritional factors like trypsin inhibitor, glucosinolates and erucic acid ,that are usually present in most of the plant ingredients and has low level of phytate (Overland et al. 2013, Brown et al. 2016).

The usefulness of the DDGS for aqua feed has been tested only in few species such as rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) (Cheng und Hardy 2004, Overland et al. 2013, Welker et al. 2014) channel catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*) (Lim et al. 2009, Li et al. 2011b), and Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) (Schaeffer et al. 2009, 2012, Li et al. 2011a, Khalil et al. 2013). The digestibility of DDGS has been determined on C. *Carpio* and was 94.42 % for the apparent digestibility coefficient of protein and 76.23 % for dry matter (Sandor et al. 2016).

2.7.1 Experimental diet

The nutritional profile of the corn-based DDGS diet was the follows: crude protein 27 %, crude fat 9 %, crude fiber 10 %, crude ash 4-6 %, starch 3 % and P content 7-10 g/kg. The essential amino acid content, such as lysine, methionine, tryptophan and threonine were at low concentrations according to the nutritional demand of the fish (Jobling 2011). Synthetic methionine and lysine was added to the diet to balance the essential amino acid ratio.

Three isonitrogenous (about 35 %) and isolipidic (about 6 %) diets were prepared in which DDGS was set in three different levels: 0 % as DDGS 00, 20 % as DDGS 20 and 40 % as DDGS 40, and all diets were based on terrestrial plants and industrial by-products, without fish meal.

Hemp seed oil was used as a lipid source due to its optimal fatty acid ratio and beneficial effects on fish health (Da Porto et al. 2012).

At the end of the feeding period (12 weeks), all fish were starved for 24 hours and the body weight was measured (Lines und Spence 2012) Five fish were randomly selected and overanesthetized (Matuk 1987). Blood samples were taken to measure biometrical indices like condition factor, hepatosomatic index, viscerosomatic index and taken sample from the liver, muscle, head kidney and mid-gut. After the 12-week trial, statistical differences were observed in terms of feed conversion parameters and growth. Common carp reflected significant benefits for groups fed with DDGS inclusion experimental feeds compared to the control in diet WG, daily growth index (DGI), and SGR (Table 10). There were not detected significant differences between DDGS 20 and DDGS 40, although DDGS 40 showed slightly higher values most of the parameters (Révész et al. 2019).

Specification	DDGS 00	DDGS 20	DDGS 40	p-value
IBW (g)	64.46±1.50	60.80±4.04	63.78±2.50	0.477
FBW (g)	186.24±4.02ª	202.09±12.88 ^{ab}	215.06±1.63 ^b	0.012
WG (%)	188.93±10.54ª	232.37±16.96 ^b	237.16±13.35 ^b	0.016
DGI (%)	2.07±0.07 ^a	2.36±0.11 ^b	2.43±0.06 ^b	0.006
FCR $(g g^{-1})$	2.08±0.05 ^a	1.82±0.01 ^b	1.81±0.07 ^b	0.001
SGR (% day-1)	1.31±0.04ª	1.46±0.06 ^b	1.48±0.05 ^b	0.014
PER $(g g^{-1})$	1.30 ± 0.04^{a}	1.59±0.01 ^b	1.68±0.07 ^c	< 0.001
PPV (%)	18.79±0.55 ^a	23.10±0.24 ^b	23.98±0.96 ^b	< 0.001
SR (%)	96.67	100.00	98.89	-

Table 10: Measured parameters of Cyprinus carpio juveniles (Révész et al. 2019).

IBW: initial body weight; FBW: final body weight; WG: weight gain; DGI: daily growth index; FCR: feed conversion ratio; SGR: specific growth rate; PER: protein efficiency ratio; SR: survival rate. Values are means of three replicates; values within the same row with different letters are significantly different (p < 0.05). Data are presented as mean ±SD.

Crude protein content was higher (< 0.05) in the DDGS fed groups compared to the control group. At higher DDGS level the crude fat content increased while the crude ash level decreased. The experimental diet did not show adverse effect on gut health, only some generic differences were found in the histological session.

The present study documents that the replacement of SBM and corn grain with DDGS had beneficial effects on the growth performance of *C. carpio*. DDGS diet is an easily digestible and usable feedstuff for Common carp. The protein efficiency ratio and protein productivity values are relatively good for *C. carpio* using DDGS up to 40 % in the diet, comparable with the results with other plant sources (Hasan et al. 1997).

Moreover, there were no histological differences, like enteritis features, epithelium thickness in the intestines between the experimental groups in contrast with the group fed SBM (Urán et al. 2008). The other beneficial effects of DDGS is the absence of ANFs. The plasma biochemical parameters are important factors for reflecting injury, but in this study these parameters showed no significant differences between the experimental groups.

The activity of ALT is the main indicator of liver damage. In the current study, the plasma ALT levels were relatively low, indicating that DDGS diet does not have adverse effect on liver in *C. carpio*.

DDGS is a suitable feed ingredient for omnivorous fish, because of its appropriate protein content (Brown et al. 2016). The diet of Channel catfish can include DDGS up to 40 %, or 70 % with supplemented lysine without affecting growth performance and feed utilization (Webster et al. 1992) (Révész et al. 2020).

According to the current study, the DDGS at high inclusion level (up to 40 %) represents an appropriate dietary protein and fat source for *C. carpio* without negative consequences on the growth and the health.

The decrement of liver fat deposition is remarkable after a three-months feeding period using the diet with 40 % of DDGS at the common carp.

Another study reported the digestibility of corn DDGS in common carp juveniles at two temperatures, 20 Celsius degrees (°C) and 30 °C (Révész et al. 2020).

Fish were fed under different temperature regimes with or without DDGS to assess the interaction between the water temperature and nutrient digestibility of corn DDGS.

The biggest drawback of using DDGS in fish feed is the variability of the nutrient concentration among the DDGS sources (Liu 2011). DDGS in corn has some xanthophylls content and this can lead to yellow pigmentation of fish fillets (Lim et al. 2011). The replacement of fishmeal by corn DDGS can cause depressed growth performance of Nile tilapia (Coyle et al. 2004, Salama et al. 2011).

According to Watanable et al. (Watanabe et al. 1996) the optimum range of water temperature for the growth and nutrient utilization in Common carp is between 20-25 °C. Moreover, these authors reported a direct effect on dry matter and protein digestibility by increasing the water

temperature (20-30 °C). In contrast to the digestibility of phosphorus, where the water temperature does not influence the digestibility of phosphorus.

As a result, the present study reflected that 30 % DDGS in the diet of common carp did not affect growth performance and feed efficiency. Several studies reported promising results about the use of moderate (15-30 %) inclusion level of DDGS in channel catfish, tilapia and rainbow trout (Webster et al. 1991, 1993, Cheng und Hardy 2004, Coyle et al. 2004).

In conclusion, this study suggested that corn DDGS constitutes a suitable ingredient for use in common carp diet at least up to 30 %. Furthermore, corn DDGS includes digestible phosphorus source, which can reduce the need for supplemental inorganic phosphorus.

For example, corn DDGS will reduce the diet costs and also the reduce of quantities of phosphorus by excreted from animals.

Overall, corn DDGS promises to have a high potential substitution in the diets for Common carp and further study need to be known the maximum inclusion level.

To summarize, DDGS are high-quality and cheap and they can enhance the development of aquaculture and improve the profitability.

2.8 Mixing of plant and animal protein sources for replace fish meal in the aquaculture diet

Alone, most single plant protein or animal by-products might be lacking some important nutrient to be completely substituted fish meal in the aqua feed.

Animal by-products are less expensive and have similar amino acid profile compared to fish meal. On the other hand, they are deficient in several essential amino acids which reduces the protein digestibility and may impair growth rate at high inclusion level in the diet (Damusaru et al. 2019). Moreover, plant-based protein sources may contain anti-nutritional factors and have sometimes unbalanced amino acid profiles and low protein content (Carter und Hauler 2000). These disadvantages can affect the growth performance and nutrient utilization in fish (Wilson und Poe 1985, Hernández-Infante et al. 1998).

Combining different plant protein sources and animal by-products in aquaculture diet is more effective and efficient to enrich the optimal nutritional profile of fish because it allows for a more completed and balanced than any other single source of protein (Lee und Bai 1997, Bae et al. 2012b, S. und K. 2015, Wang et al. 2017). It has been documented that the combination of animal and plant protein sources alongside supplementation with amino acids may prevent nutritional deficiencies that could affect fish performance and ensure proper supply of essential nutrients (Lunger et al. 2007, S. und K. 2015, Herath et al. 2016). Previous studies have also reported that the concentrated mixture of animal and plant protein sources including SBM, PBM, BM, LM, and FEM have been used as a fish meal replacers in the diet of several freshwater fish species (Engin und Carter 2005, Kasper et al. 2007, J.G. et al. 2016). According to Hernandez and Roman (Hernández und Roman 2016) and Jo et al 2016 (Jo et al. 2017) substituting fish meal with a mixture of SBM, PBM, BM, and FEM can balance the amino acid requirements in the diet, resulting in improved feed sustainability and palatability as well as reduced production cost and environmental effects (Damusaru et al. 2019).

3 Animal-based protein as an alternative for substitution fish meal in the aquaculture diet

3.1 Animal By-products in the aqua feed

Currently, around 20 % of the global fish meal production is supplied through the use of fishery by-products and 10 % through the use of aquaculture by-products, in particular reuse of part of the fish unfit for human consumption (Ytrestøyl et al. 2015, Jackson und Newton 2016, FAO 2018). A major advantage is that the FM produced through this method will be almost identical to the one obtained from more traditional sources of (Hua et al. 2019). However, the exact composition can vary based on the type of raw material and the manufacturing processes, as well as on the nutrient composition of the fish species and which portion of the fish is used (fillets compared to the head, viscera, skin, blood or bones).

Several studies have reported on the successful fish meal from fishery and aquaculture byproducts in aqua feeds (Ytrestøyl et al. 2015, Jackson und Newton 2016, FAO 2018, Froehlich et al. 2018). For example, tuna by-products at the inclusion rate of 15.8-21.4 % can replace up to 25-30 % of the protein in the diet of spotted rose snapper (*Lutjanus guttatus*) without affecting growth performance (Hernández et al. 2014). Similarly, the substitution rate of tuna by-product meal in the diet of Korean rockfish (*Sebastes schlegeli*) can be replaced about 75 % of fish meal if the dietary inclusion rate of 58.1 %.

However, the recycling of fish in this fashion could present some risk of transmission of pathogens if the fish had been infected and outbreak have been tracked to raw fish used as food for other fish (Mitchum und Sherman 1981, Inglis et al. 1993). Moreover, because the growth of aquaculture outpaces that of fisheries, this protein source will soon reach its limits and is unlikely to keep up the rapid growth of the aquaculture industry.

Another aquatic source protein is krill. Krill meal has several benefits in fish farming due to its high protein content. It is used as a feed additive in aquaculture diets and as a growth enhancer in fish and shrimp. Krill meal contains approximately 60 % protein with well-balanced amino acids, 25 % lipids, omega-3-fatty acids and astaxanthin (Ashish et al. 2020) and its inclusion improves he yield alongside fillet quality and the fish health.

Animal by-products such as poultry or fish offal, meat and bone meal (MBM) or blood meal (BM) have also been successfully used in aqua feeds. By-products are viable alternative protein sources to conventional fish meal because they are more economical and sustainable protein origin (Kim et al. 2018).

PBM has a potential to substitute fish meal because it has been shown to be well digested by several fish species (Bureau et al. 1999, Rawles et al. 2006, Yang et al. 2006). Its relatively high protein content and lower price compared to fish meal, makes PBM a promising alternative protein source in the feed of carnivorous fish species like rainbow trout (Shapawi et al. 2007). The effect of replacing fish meal with PBM has been investigated for several fish species, including Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) (Fowler 1991), Nile tilapia and rainbow trout. However, according to Fagbenro and Bello-Olusoji poultry waste can replace only up to approximately 40 % of the dietary fishmeal without adversely effects on growth performance and feed utilization (Fagbenro und Bello-Olusoji 1997). In rainbow trout, inclusion of PBM at levels above 50 % has been linked to increased body lipid content of fish (Steffens 1994, Bureau et al. 1999, EL-Haroun et al. 2009).

Another animal by-product of interest is MBM. It contains high protein levels with a wellbalanced profile of amino acids and well digestible minerals like phosphorus and calcium. It has the advantage of-not containing anti-nutritional factors (Suloma et al. 2013). Several studies have investigated the inclusion of MBM at multiple replacement levels in different fish species. Moderate fishmeal substitution levels for olive flounder or rainbow trout range from 20 % to 45 %, in contrast with more omnivorous species such as the African catfish or Nile tilapia for which the replacement levels can reach up to 75 % and 100 % with no ill-effects (El-Sayed 1998, Goda et al. 2007). The major disadvantages of MBM are considered to be the high ash content because of the presence of bone and other organic matter (Bureau et al. 1999).

BM from slaughterhouse waste is also a potential protein sources for replace FM in the aquaculture diet (Tacon et al. 2011). It includes high quality proteins, namely lysine and histidine, it has high digestibility (80-99 %). Further, special forms of iron, like haemiron may support the oxidation of feed components (Bureau et al. 1999, Millamena 2002, El-Haroun und

Bureau 2007). According to Agbebi et al FM can be totally substituted with BM with no adverse effect on growth and feed conversion ratio at juvenile catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) (Agbebi O T 2009, Ashish et al. 2020).

3.1.1 Experimental diet

A 12 weeks' diet experiment was conducted on African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) to evaluate the effects of partial replacement of FM with two kinds of fermented animal by-product: fish offal's silage (FOS) and poultry offal's silage (POS), fermented with *Lactobacillus acidophilus* which facilitates nutrient utilization by breaking down proteins as amino acids and peptides (Table 11 and 12). This leads to a better performance, incidence of cost and profit index (PI) (El-Sayed et al. 2020) on the growth performance, microbiological and organoleptic fish quality. In addition, the profit index was calculated by comparing the value of the fish and the cost of production, based on the difference in cost between these ingredients. Five diets were formulated by partial substitution dietary FM at 20 % and 40 % with fermented FOS as well 20 % and 40 % POS and the control diet with 100 % FM.

Offal have a high protein and lipid content (Table 11), low carbohydrate content and lack of ANFs but on the other hand they have some drawbacks including the presence of indigestible particles, microbial contaminations and high moisture (Cruz-Suárez et al., 2007; Samaddar and Kaviraj, 2014).

Nutrient %	fish offal`s silage	poultry offal's silage	
Moisture	76.4+/-0.8	66.3+/-0.4	
Crude Protein	35.2+/-0.7	41.7+/-0.7	
Ether Extract	7.9+/-1.3	24.8+/-1.1	
Ash	8.6+/-0.2	6.3+/-0.3	

Table 11: Composition of fermented fish offal's silage and poultry offal's silage (El-Sayed et al. 2020).

			Diet 3		Diet 5
	Diet 1	Diet 2 (20 %	(40%	Diet 4	(40%
Ingredients %	(control)	FOS)	FOS)	(20% POS)	POS)
Poultry meal (66 %)	19,40	19,7	20,3	19,5	20
Fish meal (61.6 %)	10	8	6	8	6
Poultry offal's silage					
(41.7 %)	0	0	0	2	4
Fish offal's silage					
(35.2 %)	0	2	4	0	0
Ground Y. Corn (8.7					
%)	21,1	19,8	18,8	19,7	19
Soybean meal (41.6					
%)	26,5	27,6	28,1	27,7	28
Wheat middling					
(17.1 %)	15	14,6	14,5	15	15
Oil mix	6	6,1	6,1	6,1	6
Premix (Vit. &Min.)	0,3	0,3	0,3	0,3	0,3
Common salt	0,3	0,3	0,3	0,3	0,3
Mono calcium					
phosphate	1,4	1,6	1,6	1,4	1,4
					34,3+/
Crude protein (%)	34,3+/-0,7	34,3+/-0,4	34,3+/- 0,4	34,3+/- 0,4	-1,6
					2950
	2950 Kcal	2950 Kcal DE/	2950 Kcal	2950 Kcal	Kcal
Digestible energy	DE/kg	kg	DE/ kg	DE/kg	DE/kg

Table 12: Dietary compositions of experimental diets (El-Sayed et al. 2020).

					Diet 5
	Diet 1	Diet 2 (20 %	Diet 3 (40 %	Diet 4 (20 %	(40 %
Parameter	(control	FOS)	FOS)	POS)	POS)
	299,7+/-				299,7+/-
Initial Wt. (g)	1,3	304,7+/-4,2	303+/-1,1	301+/-1,3	1,6
	440,3+/-				410,7+/-
Final Wt. (g)	4,6	389,7+/-1,6	374,7+/-1,3	385,3+/-3,6	3,1
	140,6+/-				111+/-
Weight Gain (g)	3,3	85+/-4	64,6+/-1,3	84,3+/-7,2	2,1
	245,8+/-				246,9+/-
Feed intake (g)	2,7	167,2+/-7	136,3+/-1,3	149,2+/-6,5	8
Feed Conversation					2,2+/-
Ratio	1,75+/-0,1	2+/-0,1	2,1+/-0,1	1,77+/-0,1	0,1
Protein efficiency	1,67+/-				1,24+/-
ratio	0,01	1,48	1,38	1,58+/-0,03	0,06

 Table 13: Growth performance parameters of the experimental diets for African catfish

 (El-Sayed et al. 2020).

At the end of the feeding trial the growth performance of fish was compared between the diet groups and the results showed significant differences in the final average body weight of fish (FW) and WG between the groups (Table 13). The highest FW after the control diet was recorded the fifth group with 40 % POS while both 20 % FOS and 20 % POS groups showed same data. The lowest value was found in the group supplemented with 40 % FOS. Diet with 40 % POS recorded the highest WG, but less than the control diet.

After calculation of the PI, the third group (40 % FOS) showed the highest PI while the control group the lowest PI, suggesting that this replacement was an economically viable strategy in commercial farms. However, significant differences in taste and texture were recorded between the groups. In this context the diet with 40 % POS and 40 % FOS showed the lowest value in opposite with the control diet and the group with 20 % POS. The smell of the different groups

also presented perceptible differences, suggesting an effect on the organoleptic qualities of the final product.

Microbiological examination resulted in significant differences in the number of total bacteria among the groups. The diet with 40 % FOS supplemented the highest value, followed by the group with 40 % POS and the control group. The lowest value was found in the group with 20 % POS and 20 % FOS.

This data showed that POS and FOS have high protein level and are competitive with other conventional dietary protein sources. The group with 20 % POS recorded the highest FCR, PER, best IC and PI comparing the other groups in the feeding trial, except the control group. As a conclusion it appears that POS might be a profitable and sustainable protein sources in aquaculture diets. It can effectively substitute fish meal in African catfish diets till the substitution level of 20 % without negatively effecting the growth and microbial qualities.

However, this substitution also resulted in alterations in the organoleptic qualities of the finished product which could plausibly hinder the sale and the consumption of the fish. More research will be necessary to investigate this critically important aspect.

3.2 Insect protein in aqua culture

As a result of the short life cycle of the insects and ability of growing on a wide range organic waste with high productivity and relatively good nutritional profiles, insect meal as a suitable aqua feed ingredient is increasing significance in many countries (IPIFF 2018, Berggren et al. 2019). In addition, the amino acid contents of insect proteins make them a suitable candidate for the replacement of fishmeal (Animal Breeding und HAS 2018). Moreover, protein production from insects and insect larvae meets the needs of sustainable development because large amount of protein with excellent biological value can be produced in a small area.

According to the latest EU regulation (Regulation (EU) No 2017/893), only certain feed of animal origin may be used to feed insects and insect larvae. Notably, this regulation prohibits the use of organic manure as feed of animal origin. Nonetheless, in some African countries, the `recycling` of poultry manure is for feed purposes for rearing insect larvae. However, it should

be borne in mind that insect larvae, when reared on poultry manure, may carry certain pathogenic bacteria, such as *Salmonella* sp. Although *Salmonella* sp. can be killed by heat treatment before use for animal feed, there is a risk of rancidity due to the generally high fat content of insect larvae (Animal Breeding und HAS 2018).

The global market of edible insects is growing rapidly, expected to expand from 1 billion dollar by 2019 to reach 8 billion dollar by 2030 (E.M. 2019, Ltd. 2019). The use of insects and their larvae as a feed component is currently only allowed by the European Union for companion animals and fish, but the obtained protein from them, in the form of protein hydrolysate is allowed for all farm animals.

Based on a detailed toxicological study of insects that they can be used as feed, the EFSA in 2015 classified the following species as safe for direct use and protein extraction: black fly (*Hermetie illucens*), house fly (*Musca domestica*), common flea beetle (*Tenebrio molitor*), beetle (*Alphitobius diaperinus*), house cricket (*Acheta domesticus*), striped cricket (*Gryllodes sigillatus*), ground cricket (*Gryllus assimilis*). These seven species are non-pathogenic, non-vectors of pathogens, and non- invasive (Hua et al. 2019).

In countries outside the European Union and United States, many other insect species and their larvae are also used to feed farm animals. For example, the silkworm (*Bombynx mori*) or locusts, of which the red losuct (*Nomadacris septemfaciata*) is mainly used for animal feed in Africa and Asia (Animal Breeding und HAS 2018).

The crude protein content of these insects ranges from 40 % to 63 % although it can be up to 83 % in defatted insect meal (Makkar et al. 2014). The amino acid profile varies between species and the crude lipid content of insects and ranges from 8.5 % to 36 % (Barroso et al. 2014, Henry et al. 2015). Comparing insect meal with FM shows that insect meal contains negligible amounts of eicosapentaenoic (EDA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and diverse level of omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acid level (Hua et al. 2019).

Depending on the husbandry technology and the organic waste used for feeding, the house fly larvae have a protein content of 42-62 % with an excellent amino acid composition and an extremely good apparent digestibility of amino acids up to 91 % (Pretorius 2011).

Meanwhile, the crude protein content of silkworms is 47-63 %, depending on the technology, feeding and processing, which can be increased up to 80 % by degreasing (Khan et al. 2016).

It has also been reported that the non-defatted silkworm pupae using at 30 % in the diet of common carp could replace fish meal without any adverse effect on the texture, flavour or colour of the fish (Nandeesha et al. 1990).

Furthermore, the material used to feed insects or insect larvae has a significant effect on the nutrient content, including the crude protein of the produced insect meal (Oonincx et al. 2015). Lipid quality, EDA and DHA content can be manipulated by feeding insects (Sealey et al. 2011). Vitamin and mineral level also depend on the substrate of feeding materials (Henry et al. 2015). The carbohydrates level of the insects is low. The nutritive value of insect meal can be achieved with the combination of nutrient sources to improve the fatty acid contents, palatability and even the digestibility (Henry et al. 2015).

During the use of insects and insect larvae, a number of concerns has been raised regarding the potential of these organism to act as vectors for pathogenic microorganism. Indeed, insects or insect larvae may naturally be infected with insect-specific microorganism that are harmful to animals, including humans, however due to their high tissue specificity, it is generally considered that they do not pose a real risk to either farm animals or humans consuming the animal product (Eilenberg et al. 2015).

Insect meal can be used successful for 100 % replacement of FM (even for carnivorous fish) according to the recent studies. For example, using black soldier fly larvae in the dietary inclusion rate of 14.75 % replaced 100 % of the FM in the diet of Atlantic salmon (Belghit et al. 2019).

Another successful dietary replacement was reporting at the rainbow trout by using yellow mealworm at level from 5-25 % improved the growth and achieved the 100 % replacement of FM (Rema et al. 2019).

Some studies reported that insect meal can affect the sensory profile of the fish fillets of the Atlantic salmon (Belghit et al. 2019) and rainbow trout (Borgogno et al. 2017).

Another conflicting result exists regarding the price of the insect meal. Insect meal is not a price-competitive material for aqua feed (IPIFF 2018). An experiment with the European sea bass *(Dicentrarchus labrax)* demonstrated that the using of yellow mealworm into the aqua feed resulted in increased feed prices (Arru et al. 2019). Moreover, the global production of insect meal is increasing and the price of it expected to be competitive with the FM by 2023 (W. und B. 2016).

Based on these results, it appears that if supply of insect meal at a competitive price can be secured, the use of insect meal in aqua feed is a promising alternative for FM.

3.3 Earthworm in the fish diet

Earthworms are a group of terrestrial invertebrate within the order Opisthopora. Earthworms have a high protein content (chemical analysis showed the chemical composition of their body tissues was composed of 60-70 % protein, 7-10 % fat, 8-20 % carbohydrate and 2-3 % minerals) and they represent a good source of proteins (Tacon et al. 1983, Sogbesan und Ugwumba 2008, Guerrero R.D 2009). Earthworms can provide not only essential amino acids but also - fats, vitamins and mineral content and for this reason, have been used in the diet of pigs, rabbit and fish species (Stafford und Tacon 1985, J.R. 1986, Mason, W.T., Rothamann, R.W and Deguinme 1992). Due to their high reproductive rate and biomass production of earthworm species, they are highly practical for worm meal production and are recommended for processing dried and pulverized form for feed preparation. The practices are currently on the rise and, in Japan, there are currently over 3.000 vermicomposting plants aimed at producing earthworm for fish feed, in particular for the farming of eel (Anguilla japonica). However, there are many earthworm species, often endemic to specific regions, and multiple species are known not to be suitable for aquaculture production because they contain antinutritional factors. In contrast, Eisenia fetida is considered among the most suitable. Moreover, unprocessed earthworm meals only have a limited shelf-life; processing can also increase the digestibility of the chitinous elements (Musyoka et al. 2019). Generally, more research is needed to improve the use of earthworm meals while overcoming limitations to its application, including scalingup production to a more intensive scale.

3.3.1 Experimental diet

Trial was performed in African catfish *(Clarias Gariepinus)* fingerlings to compare diets that incorporate a mixture of earthworm and fish meal at different ratio as protein source (Omeru, E. D. AND Solomon 2016).

The experimental diet included artificial fish meal as sole protein source (control diet – group A), 70 % earthworm meal and 30 % FM (group B) or 50 % earthworm meal and 50 % FM (group C). In addition, other ingredients such us groundnut cake (20 g), cornflower (20 g), rice barn (20 g), eggs (70 g) and brewer's yeast (30 g) were added to complement the proteins.

The fingerlings were fed with 4 % of their body weight twice a day for twelve weeks long and the best growth performance and nutrient utilization was reported from the fish group fed 56 % level of whole earthworm (Fig. 7 and 8).



Figure 7: Mean weight for the three experimental diet (Omeru, E. D. AND Solomon 2016).



Figure 8: Mean length for the three experimental diet (Omeru, E. D. AND Solomon 2016).

According to the result of the present study the inclusion of whole earthworm meal in the diet of African sharp tooth catfish is beneficial; not only is it cheaper and more sustainable, it is linked to an increased growth and survival of the fish.

Discussion

Currently, a major source of proteins in the diet of aquaculture remains fishmeal acquired largely from the wild. However, there is a strong need to replace this expensive and limited resource with more stable and more sustainable sources. Consequently, many alternatives have been suggested. However, each one of these alternatives is different regarding the balance of the various nutrients it contains and some of them have been associated with anti-nutritional factors. Moreover, a notable group of nutrients are polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs). These PUFA are famously a major health benefit associated with the consumption of fish and aquatic products but they are also not synthetized de novo in significant numbers by aquatic animals and, for them too, must largely be acquired through the diet. However, many possible sources of alternative proteins and nutrients only have low levels of PUFAs.

Among the most commonly suggested alternatives, soybean meals are a popular source of sustainable proteins of vegetal origin and are considered sustainable. They have a balanced protein profile and have already been widely adopted in both humans and animal diets. Their use has raised some concerns, however, because soybean is known to contain some antinutritional factors, notably phytoestrogens that have been suspected to have deleterious effects on the sexual development and reproduction of fish and other aquaculture animals. However, such effects have not been confirmed through experimentation. Moreover, SBM can also contain lectins and proteinase inhibitors, although these can be removed from the diet during processing. Finally, one major issue with soybean is that it requires the use of farming and the considerable increase in the use of soybean in the last several decades (15 times increase since the 1950ies) has required vast amount of new agricultural lands and has led to deforestation worldwide. Therefore, this resource might not necessarily be as sustainable as one would think.

Canola/ rapeseed meal has a high protein content with good amino acid profile and it makes rapeseed meal a popular commercial protein sources for the animal feeding. On the other hand, canola meal brings its own set of limitations such as the presence of glucosinolates, high fibre content of low digestibility and anti-nutritional ingredients, which limit its maximum acceptable amount in aquatic diets. Furthermore, other components like tannin and sinapine can reduce the appetence of feed and impact the feed intake. With a special aqueous extraction process, it is possible to remove drawback factors of canola meal and it can result in higher level of replacement fish meal.

Cottonseed meal can be produced from cottonseed by special extractions. It has a high protein content but because of the presence of the anti-nutritional factors and their relatively expensive price compared to other protein sources, its usage is limited in the aquaculture diets. The high gossypol level of cottonseed is toxic for animals and affects negatively the feed consumption, growth and the reproduction capacity. Supplementation of lysine and iron could increase the inclusion level of cottonseed in the aquatic diet.

Algae, such as Spirulina in the aquaculture diet represent a promising feedstuff, containing all essential amino acids, essential fatty acids and vitamins. Or particular interest is that algae are a major source of PUFAs in the food chain and their inclusion would likely strengthen the health benefits associated with the consumption of fish. High supplementation level of algae in the aqua feed may have adverse effect on fish growth and fish efficiency because of the presence of anti-nutritional compounds. Using Spirulina at low level to replacing fish meal have several beneficial effects like positive effects on the growth performance, as well as increased fillets quality and boosting the immune system.

Distiller's dried grains is characterised as a major by-product of ethanol production with high energy content, medium protein quantity and digestible fibres. It is a cheap sustainable fish feed with high nutritional value and lack of anti-nutritional factors.

Among the animal based protein sources, animal by-products, insect protein and earthworm represent interesting substitutes of fish meal. By-products such as fish offal's silage or poultry offal's silage are economical potential protein sources for the aquaculture diet, but they have been associated with degraded organoleptic qualities. On the other hand, because of the short reproduction circle, high productivity and good nutritional profiles, insect meal is a suitable candidate for the replacement of fish meal. However, insect meal may affect the sensory profile of the fish fillets and because of its expensive price, it is not considered a price-competitive protein sources.

Earthworms have high protein content, include fats, vitamins and mineral content and due to its high reproductive rate, earthworm meal is a good protein source for substituting fish meal.

However, not all species are equally well suited and, indeed, several species of earthworms have been shown to harbour anti-nutritional compounds (Musyoka et al. 2019). This suggests that some non-endemic species might have to be introduced for farming, which is problematic. Moreover, scaling-up of earthworm production to industrial scale, as would be required to contribute to aquaculture production to a significant extent, is still technically difficult.

As seen above each of the various alternatives have its own characteristics, both advantages that warrant them being considered as a replacement source and limitations that hinder their applications. Another aspect is that the price or availability of the various foodstuff is likely to fluctuates over time and to vary from regions to regions. By-products of agriculture products, for example, being more easily available in regions that already harbour a large land-based agriculture industry. Moreover, none of the alternatives, with the exception of by-products from fisheries and aquaculture, which are intrinsically limited in term of available volume, perfectly matches the composition of the fishmeal they aimed to replace. In addition, even when the nutrients are present in the diet, their digestibility and bioavailability might be more limited than that of fishmeal: Aquatic animals and their digestive systems have evolved to take maximum advantage of their natural diets and, notably, their digestive enzymes are unable to extract nutrients as efficiently from other sources. This later aspect means that the precise balance of the nutrients will have to be further adapted to the species of the animals being farmed, in order to match the specific requirements of the farmed species not just in term of composition but more in term of bioavailable nutrients.

For this reason, it is likely that fishmeal will not be replaced by a single alternative but rather by multiple sources each with its own composition, in order to match the requirement of the farmed species more accurately. In particular, it is likely that most of these nutrients will need to be complemented with some source rich in PUFAs as these are required dietary complements that are only present at significant levels in a limited number of foodstuffs. Combining different food sources would also be a way to keep any anti-nutritional factor in any individual ingredient at a low level. In addition, these foodstuffs might likely be subjected to pre-processing before hands to make them more suitable for the animals being farmed.

In this context, it might be tempting to resort to genetically modified organisms (GMOs) to ensure that these alternative food source do contain some elusive nutrients. However, this approach would likely prove unpopular due to the public suspicions regarding such GMOs. Similarly, some foodstuff such as blood meal and poultry offal's silage (POS) might also seem distasteful to the consumers. Moreover, and perhaps more importantly, some foodstuff might result in change in the taste, smell or texture of the final products and result in making them less appealing to the consumers. Only limited research has been performed on this subject but some replacement meals like fish offal's silage and POS have been shown in the past to be associated with degraded organoleptic qualities, which would represent a severe limitation to their adoption.

Beside these technical aspects, because of the importance of food cost in aquaculture settings, the availability of these ingredients on a large scale must also be stable and their price should not be too high nor should it fluctuates too widely. Moreover, because their price must remain low, their production should not be in competition with other land use.

In this context, more research is going to be required to optimise the composition of the diets and match them more precisely to the various farmed species and even to the precise life stage of the species being farmed, as both the requirements and digestive systems of animals vary over the course of their lives. This task is made more daunting considering that new foodstuffs are continuously being offered and that, on the other side of the coin, the aquaculture industry is continuously being wideners with new species being domesticated that had not previously been farmed. In addition, more research might help discover or develop new sustainable sources for these foodstuff.

Summary

The continuous increase in human population has made continued access to sustainable sources of food, in particular nutrient-rich and high-quality proteins, an area of concern. At the same time, aquaculture has been the fastest growing food sector worldwide and the annual growth rate of global fish consumption increased twice as the population growth (FAO 2018, Hua et al. 2019).

Traditionally for most farmed fish, fish meal derived from small pelagic fish has been the main dietary protein source. Notably, proteins are an important part of the fish diet, especially considering that the fish digestive system is ill-equipped to digest carbohydrates and that fish rely on gluconeogenesis more than carbohydrates as source of energy. Unfortunately, the availability of the fish meal and fish oil from forage fish has been continuously decreasing over the last twenty years and many resources have been overexploited and are unable to sustain the rapid expansion of the aquaculture (Hua et al. 2019). The total production of aqua feed for the aquaculture species is expected to increase by 75 % from 49.7 million tonnes in 2015 to 87.1 million tonnes in 2025 (Tacon und Methian 2015). Therefore, it is estimated to answer to this new demand, an additional 37.4 million tonnes of aqua feeds will be required by 2025. Because of the increased price and restricted availability of fish meal alternative protein sources are desperately needed.

So far, plant-based protein ingredients have been the most commonly used sources of replacement for this fish meal in studies. Plant protein sources are easily available and they have a lower market price compared to fish meal. However, the presence of anti-nutritional factors limits their application in aqua feed. Many ingredients such as soybean meal are already commonly substituted for fish meal and some other plants like rapeseed meal, cottonseed, algae and distiller's dried grains all have advantages as protein sources and might be applied in the future.

In addition, that animal-based protein sources such as earthworm, insects or animal by-products are not only cheap sources comparatively but are nutritionally enriched.

Therefore, developing and optimizing alternative sources of protein play an important role for the future in the aquaculture industry.

Zusammenfassung

Der kontinuierliche Anstieg der menschlichen Bevölkerung hat den kontinuierlichen Zugang zu nachhaltigen Nahrungsquellen, insbesondere zu nährstoffreichen und hochwertigen Proteinen zu einem Anliegen gemacht. Gleichzeitig ist die Aquakultur der weltweit am schnellsten wachsende Lebensmittelsektor und die jährliche Wachstumsrate des globalen Fischkonsums stieg doppelt so schnell an, wie das Bevölkerungswachstum (FAO 2018, Hua et al. 2019).

Traditionell ist für die meisten Zuchtfische Fischmehl aus kleinen pelagischen Fischen die Hauptproteinquelle in der Ernährung gewesen. Vor allem Proteine sind ein wichtiger Bestandteil der Fischnahrung, insbesondere, wenn man bedenkt, dass das Verdauungssystem von Fischen nicht in der Lage ist Kohlenhydrate zu verdauen. Zudem sind Fische mehr auf Glukoneogenese als auf Kohlenhydrate als Energiequelle angewiesen. Leider hat die Verfügbarkeit von Fischmehl und Fischöl aus Futterfischen in den letzten zwanzig Jahren kontinuierlich abgenommen und viele Ressourcen wurden übernutzt und sind nicht in der Lage, die schnelle Expansion der Aquakultur zu unterstützen (Hua et al. 2019). Es wird erwartet, dass die Gesamtproduktion von Aquafutter für die Aquakulturarten um 75 % von 49,7 Millionen Tonnen im Jahr 2015 auf 87,1 Millionen Tonnen im Jahr 2025 ansteigen wird (Tacon und Methian 2015). Daher wird geschätzt, dass zur Deckung dieser neuen Nachfrage bis 2025 zusätzlich 37,4 Millionen Tonnen Aquafutter benötigt werden. Aufgrund des gestiegenen Preises und der eingeschränkten Verfügbarkeit von Fischmehl werden dringend alternative Proteinquellen benötigt.

Bisher wurden in Studien vor allem pflanzliche Eiweißbestandteile als Ersatz für dieses Fischmehl verwendet. Pflanzliche Proteinquellen sind leicht verfügbar und haben einen niedrigeren Marktpreis im Vergleich zu Fischmehl. Allerdings schränkt das Vorhandensein von antinutritiven Faktoren ihre Anwendung im Aquafutter ein. Viele Inhaltsstoffe wie Sojabohnenmehl werden bereits häufig als Ersatz für Fischmehl verwendet und einige andere Pflanzen wie Raps Mehl, Baumwollsamen, Algen und getrocknetes Getreide von Brennereien haben alle Vorteile als Proteinquellen und könnten in Zukunft eingesetzt werden.
Hinzu kommt, dass tierische Proteinquellen wie Regenwurm, Insekten oder tierische Nebenprodukte nicht nur vergleichsweise billige Quellen, sondern auch ernährungsphysiologisch angereichert sind.

Daher spielt die Entwicklung und Optimierung alternativer Proteinquellen eine wichtige Rolle für die Zukunft in der Aquakulturindustrie.

Abbreviation

Anti-nutritional factors	ANFs
Bioprocessed protein concentrates	BPCs
Bioprocessed soybean meal	BSM
Blood meal	BM
Canola Protein Concentrate	CPC
Celsius degree	°C
Condition factor	K
Corn gluten meal	CGM
Cottonseed meal hydrolysate	CHM
Cottonseed meal	CSM
Cyclopropenoic fatty acids	CFAs
Daily growth index	DGI
Daily growth rate	DGR
Distilled dried grains with solubles	DDGS
Docosahexaenoic acid	DHA
Docosahexaenoic acid	DHA
Eicosapentaenoic acid	EDA
Essential amino acid	EAA
Fatty acid	FA
Feather meal	FM
Feed conversion ratio	FCR

Final body weight	FW
Fish meal	FM
Fish offal's silage	FOS
Fish oil	FO
Glucosinolates	GLs
Groundnut meal	GNM
Genetically modified organisms	GMOs
High-protein fish meal	HFM
Leather meal	LM
Lipid productive value	LPV
Low-protein fish meal	LFM
Meat and bone meal	MBM
Million tonnes	MT
Polyunsaturated fatty acid	PUFA
Poultry by-product meal	PBM
Poultry offal's silage	POS
Profit index	PI
Protein efficiency ratio	PER
Shrimp soluble extract	SSE
Soybean meal	SBM
Specific growth rate	SGR
Triacylglycerol concentration	TAG

United States dollar	US\$
Weight gain	WG

Literature

- Agbebi O T OSO and OFO. 2009. Effect of different levels of substitution of fish meal with blood meal in pelleted feeds on catfish Clarias gariepinus. European Journal of Scientific Research.
- Alami-Durante H, Médale F, Cluzeaud M, Kaushik SJ. 2010. Skeletal muscle growth dynamics and expression of related genes in white and red muscles of rainbow trout fed diets with graded levels of a mixture of plant protein sources as substitutes for fishmeal. Aquaculture.
- Alarcón FJ, Moyano FJ, Díaz M. 1999. Effect of inhibitors present in protein sources on digestive proteases of juvenile sea bream (Sparus aurata). Aquatic Living Resources.
- Allan GL, Parkinson S, Booth MA, Stone DAJ, Rowland SJ, Frances J, Warner-Smith R. 2000. Replacement of fish meal in diets for Australian silver perch, Bidyanus bidyanus: I. Digestibility of alternative ingredients. Aquaculture.
- Allen K. 2016. Evaluating Spirulina as a protein source in Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) grow-out diets.
- Amaya EA, Davis DA, Rouse DB. 2007. Replacement of fish meal in practical diets for the Pacific white shrimp (Litopenaeus vannamei) reared under pond conditions. Aquaculture.
- Animal Breeding N and GM, HAS C of the S of AS of the. 2018. SCIENTIFIC DAY ON ANIMAL BREEDING "DOMESTIC PROTEIN STRATEGY AND ITS FUTURE PERSPECTIVES".
- Anon. 2009. Criteria for safe use of plant ingredients in diets for aquacultured fish. Opinion of the Panel on Animal Feed of the Norwegian Scientific Committee for Food Safety, Norwegian Scientific Committee for Food Safety, 18.
- Antai SP, Nkwelang G. 1998. Reduction of some toxicants in Icacina mannii by fermentation with Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Plant Foods for Human Nutrition.
- Arru B, Furesi R, Gasco L, Madau FA, Pulina P. 2019. The introduction of insect meal into fish diet: The first economic analysis on European sea bass farming. Sustainability (Switzerland).
- Ashish RH, Vasava R, Niles H J. 2020. Fis meal and fish oil replacement for aqua feed formulation by using alternative sources: a review.
- Ayyappan S, Pandey B, Sarkar S, Saha D, Tripathy S. 1991. Potential of Spirulina as a feed supplement for carp fry. In Proceedings of the National Symposium of Freshwater Aquaculture, CIFA, 86–88.
- Bae B-S, Cho S-K, Park S-W, Kim S-H. 2012a. Catch characteristics of the biodegradable gill net for flounder. Journal of the Korean society of Fisheries Technology.
- Bae JY, Park GH, Yoo KY, Lee JY, Kim DJ, Bai SC. 2012b. Re-evaluation of the optimum dietary vitamin C requirement in juvenile eel, Anguilla japonica by using L-ascorbyl-2-monophosphate. Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences.
- Baeverfjord G, Krogdahl A. 1996. Development and regression of soybean meal induced enteritis in Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L., distal intestine: a comparison with the intestines of fasted fish. Journal of Fish Diseases.

Bailey's Industrial Oil and Fat Products. 2005.

- Bakke, A.M. 2011. Pathophysiological and immunological charWatanabe T. 2002. Strategies for further development of aquatic feeds. Fisheries Science. acteristics of soybean mealinduced enteropathy in salmon: Contribution of recent molecular investigations. Proceedings of International Symposium Aquaculture Nutrition X, 345–372.
- Baliga BP, Lyman CM. 1957. Preliminary report on the nutritional significance of bound gossypol in cottonseed meal. Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society.
- Barnes ME, Brown ML, Rosentrater KA, Sewell JR. 2012. An initial investigation replacing fish meal with a commercial fermented soybean meal product in the diets of juvenile rainbow trout. Open Journal of Animal Sciences.
- Barnes ME, Brown ML, Rosentrater KA, Sewell JR. 2013. Preliminary Evaluation of Rainbow Trout Diets Containing PepSoyGen, a Fermented Soybean Meal Product, and Additional Amino Acids. The Open Fish Science Journal.
- Barnes ME, Brown ML, Bruce T, Sindelar S, Neiger R. 2014. Rainbow Trout Rearing Performance, Intestinal Morphology, and Immune Response after Long-term Feeding of High Levels of Fermented Soybean Meal. North American Journal of Aquaculture.
- Barnes ME, Brown ML, Neiger R. 2015. Comparative performance of two rainbow trout strains fed fermented soybean meal. Aquaculture International.
- Barros MM, Lim C, Evans JJ, Klesius PH. 2000. Effect of Iron Supplementation to Cottonseed Meal Diets on the Growth Performance of Channel Catfish, Ictalurus punctatus. Journal of Applied Aquaculture.
- Barros MM, Lim C, Klesius PH. 2002. Effect of soybean meal replacement by cottonseed meal and iron supplementation on growth, immune response and resistance of channel catfish (Ictalurus puctatus) to Edwardsiella ictaluri challenge. Aquaculture.
- Barroso FG, de Haro C, Sánchez-Muros MJ, Venegas E, Martínez-Sánchez A, Pérez-Bañón C. 2014. The potential of various insect species for use as food for fish. Aquaculture.
- Barrows FT, Stone DAJ, Hardy RW. 2007. The effects of extrusion conditions on the nutritional value of soybean meal for rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Aquaculture.
- Belghit I, Liland NS, Gjesdal P, Biancarosa I, Menchetti E, Li Y, Waagbø R, Krogdahl Å, Lock EJ. 2019. Black soldier fly larvae meal can replace fish meal in diets of sea-water phase Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). Aquaculture.
- Bell JG, Waagbø R. 2008. Safe and nutritious aquaculture produce: Benefits and risks of alternative sustainable aquafeeds. Aquaculture in the Ecosystem.
- Bell JM. 1993. Factors affecting the nutritional value of canola meal: A review. Canadian Journal of Animal Science.
- Berggren Å, Jansson A, Low M. 2019. Approaching Ecological Sustainability in the Emerging Insects-as-Food Industry. Trends in Ecology and Evolution.
- Bickford WG, Pack FC, Castillon LE, Mack CH. 1954. The antioxidant and antipolymerization properties of gossypol, dianilinogossypol, and related materials. Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society.
- Blom JH, K-J L, Rinchard J, Dabrowski K, Ottobre J. 2001. Reproductive efficiency and maternal-offspring transfer of gossypol in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) fed diets

containing cottonseed meal. Journal of Animal Science.

- Boatner CH, Castillon LE, Hall CM, Neely JW. 1949. Gossypol and gossypurpurin in cottonseed of different varieties of G. barbadense and G. hirsutum, and variation of the pigments during storage of the seed. Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society.
- Bollini R, CampionB C and. 1999. Removal of antinutritional factors from bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) seeds. Biotechnology, Agronomy, Society and Environment, 3:217–219.
- Bonaldo RM, Krajewski JP, Sazima C, Sazima I. 2006. Foraging activity and resource use by three parrotfish species at Fernando de Noronha Archipelago, tropical West Atlantic. Marine Biology.
- Borgeson TL, Racz VJ, Wilkie DC, White LJ, Drew MD. 2006. Effect of replacing fishmeal and oil with simple or complex mixtures of vegetable ingredients in diets fed to Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus). Aquaculture Nutrition.
- Borgogno M, Dinnella C, Iaconisi V, Fusi R, Scarpaleggia C, Schiavone A, Monteleone E, Gasco L, Parisi G. 2017. Inclusion of Hermetia illucens larvae meal on rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) feed: effect on sensory profile according to static and dynamic evaluations. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture.
- Braune W. 1990. Note on the survival of algal resting cells during long-term maintenance in darkness and minimum lake bottom temperature. Comparison of Anabaena (cyanobacteria) and Haematococcus (volvocales). Internationale Revue der gesamten Hydrobiologie und Hydrographie.
- Brown ML, Schaeffer TW, Rosentrater KA, Barnes ME, Muthukumarappan K. 2016. Feeding DDGS to finfish. Distillers Grains: Production, Properties, and Utilization.
- Bruce TJ, Sindelar SC, Voorhees JM, Brown ML, Barnes ME. 2017. Performance and immunological responses of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) fed bioprocessed plant-based proteins. Aquaculture Nutrition.
- Bruce TJ, Neiger RD, Brown ML. 2018. Gut histology, immunology and the intestinal microbiota of rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss (Walbaum), fed process variants of soybean meal. Aquaculture Research.
- Buchanan J, Sarac HZ, Poppi D, Cowan RT. 1997. Effects of enzyme addition to canola meal in prawn diets. Aquaculture.
- Bureau DP, Harris AM, Cho CY. 1999. Apparent digestibility of rendered animal protein ingredients for rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Aquaculture.
- Cabral EM, Fernandes TJR, Campos SD, Castro-Cunha M, Oliveira MBPP, Cunha LM, Valente LMP. 2013. Replacement of fish meal by plant protein sources up to 75% induces good growth performance without affecting flesh quality in ongrowing Senegalese sole. Aquaculture.
- Carter CG, Hauler RC. 2000. Fish meal replacement by plant meals in extruded feeds for Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L. Aquaculture.
- Castillo S, Gatlin DM. 2015. Dietary supplementation of exogenous carbohydrase enzymes in fish nutrition: A review. Aquaculture.
- Chen H. 2015. Lignocellulose biorefinery feedstock engineering. Lignocellulose Biorefinery Engineering.

- Cheng ZJ, Hardy RW. 2002. Apparent digestibility coefficients and nutritional value of cottonseed meal for rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Aquaculture.
- Cheng ZJ, Hardy RW. 2004. Effects of microbial phytase supplementation in corn distiller's dried grain with solubles on nutrient digestibility and growth performance of rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss. Journal of Applied Aquaculture.
- Cherry J, Simmons J, Koheel R. 1978. Cottonseed composition of national variety test cultivars grown in different Texas locations. Proceedings of the Beltwide Cotton Production Research Conference, 47–58.
- Chong A, Hashim R, Bin Ali AA. 2002. Inhibition of protease activities in discus Symphysodon spp. by three plant meals. Aquaculture International.
- Clandidnin.D.R. 1961. Rapeseed oil meal studies:4.Effects of sinapine, the bitter substanz in rapeseed oil meal, on the growth of chickens. Poultry Science, 40:484–487.
- Colin-Negrete J, Kiesling HE, Ross TT, Smith JF. 1996. Effect of Whole Cottonseed on Serum Constituents, Fragility of Erythrocyte Cells, and Reproduction of Growing Holstein Heifers. Journal of Dairy Science.
- Conkerton EJ, Martinez WH, Mann GE, Frampton VL. 1957. Cottonseed Processing, Changes Induced by Autoclaving a Solvent-Extracted Cottonseed Meal. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry.
- Coyle SD, Mengel GJ, Tidwell JH, Webster CD. 2004. Evaluation of growth, feed utilization, and economics of hybrid tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus x Oreochromis aureus, fed diets containing different protein sources in combination with distillers dried grains with solubles. Aquaculture Research.
- Cren ED Le. 1951. The Length-Weight Relationship and Seasonal Cycle in Gonad Weight and Condition in the Perch (Perca fluviatilis). The Journal of Animal Ecology.
- Cruz-Suarez LE, Ricque-Marie D, Tapia-Salazar M, McCallum IM, Hickling D. 2001. Assessment of differently processed feed pea (Pisum sativum) meals and canola meal (Brassica sp.) in diets for blue shrimp (Litopenaeus stylirostris). Aquaculture.
- Da CT, Lundh T, Lindberg JE. 2013. Digestibility of dietary components and amino acids in animal and plant protein feed ingredients in striped catfish (Pangasianodon hypophthalmus) fingerlings. Aquaculture Nutrition.
- Dabrowski K, Rinchard J, Lee KJ, Blom JH, Ciereszko A, Ottobre J. 2000. Effects of diets containing gossypol on reproductive capacity of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Biology of Reproduction.
- Dabrowski K, Lee KJ, Rinchard J, Ciereszko A, Blom JH, Ottobre JS. 2001. Gossypol isomers bind specifically to blood plasma proteins and spermatozoa of rainbow trout fed diets containing cottonseed meal. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - General Subjects.
- Damusaru JH, Moniruzzaman M, Park Y, Seong M, Jung JY, Kim DJ, Bai SC. 2019. Evaluation of fish meal analogue as partial fish meal replacement in the diet of growing Japanese eel Anguilla japonica. Animal Feed Science and Technology.
- Daniel D. 2018. A review on replacing fish meal in aqua feeds using plant protein sources. International Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Studies, 6(2):164–179.
- Dasgupta T, Banerjee S, Yadav PK, Rao AR. 2001. Chemomodulation of carcinogen metabolising enzymes, antioxidant profiles and skin and forestomach papillomagenesis

by Spirulina platensis. Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry.

- Dernekbasi S, Unal H, Karayucel I, Aral O. 2010. Effect of dietary supplementation of different rates of spirulina (spirulina platensis) on growth and feed conversion in guppy (Poecilia reticulata Peters, 1860). Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances.
- Dorsa WJ, Robinette HR, Robinson EH, Poe WE. 1982. Effects of Dietary Cottonseed Meal and Gossypol on Growth of Young Channel Catfish. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society.
- Drew MD, Ogunkoya AE, Janz DM, Van Kessel AG. 2007. Dietary influence of replacing fish meal and oil with canola protein concentrate and vegetable oils on growth performance, fatty acid composition and organochlorine residues in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Aquaculture.
- Duhan A, Khetarpaul N, Bishnoi S. 2002. Changes in phytates and HCL extractability of calcium, phosphorus, and iron of soaked, dehulled, cooked, and sprouted pigeon pea cultivar (UPAS-120). Plant Foods for Human Nutrition.
- E.M. B. 2019. Alternative food and feed products. The First FAO/WHO/AU International Food Safety Conference, Addis Ababa.
- Eilenberg J, Vlak JM, Nielsen-LeRoux C, Cappellozza S, Jensen AB. 2015. Diseases in insects produced for food and feed. Journal of Insects as Food and Feed.
- Eisele TA, Coulombe RA, Williams JL, Shelton DW, Nixon JE. 1983. Time- and dosedependent effects of dietary cyclopropenoid fatty acids on the hepatic microsomal mixed function oxidase system of rainbow trout. Aquatic Toxicology.
- El-Haroun ER, Bureau DP. 2007. Comparison of the bioavailability of lysine in blood meals of various origins to that of I-lysine HCL for rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Aquaculture.
- EL-Haroun ER, Azevedo PA, Bureau DP. 2009. High dietary incorporation levels of rendered animal protein ingredients on performance of rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss (Walbaum, 1972). Aquaculture.
- El-Saidy DMSD, Gaber MM. 2004. Use of cottonseed meal supplemented with iron for detoxification of gossypol as a total replacement of fish meal in Nile tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus (L.) diets. Aquaculture Research.
- El-Sayed AFM. 1990. Long-term evaluation of cotton seed meal as a protein source for Nile tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus (Linn.). Aquaculture.
- El-Sayed AFM. 1994. Evaluation of soybean meal, spirulina meal and chicken offal meal as protein sources for silver seabream (Rhabdosargus sarba) fingerlings. Aquaculture.
- El-Sayed AFM. 1998. Total replacement of fish meal with animal protein sources in Nile tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus (L.), feeds. Aquaculture Research.
- El-Sayed EH, Azza ;, El-Demerdash S, Elamin AM, Yusuf MS. 2020. IMPACTS OF FISH MEAL REPLACEMENT WITH FERMENTED ANIMAL BY-PRODUCTS IN AFRICAN CATFISH (CLARIAS GARIEPINUS) DIETS ON GROWTH, BODY COMPOSITION, AND FISH QUALITY.
- El-Sheekh MM, Daboo S, Swelim MA, Mohamed S. 2014. Production and characterization of antimicrobial active substance from Spirulina platensis. Iranian Journal of Microbiology.

- ElMaki HB, AbdelRahaman SM, Idris WH, Hassan AB, Babiker EE, El Tinay AH. 2007. Content of antinutritional factors and HCI-extractability of minerals from white bean (Phaseolus vulgaris) cultivars: Influence of soaking and/or cooking. Food Chemistry.
- Enami HR. 2002. Potential use of Iranian rapeseed meal in aquaculture. 2nd Scientific Seminar on Using Rapeseed Meal in Livestock, Poultry and Aquatic Animals, Theran, Iran.
- Enami HR. 2003a. Chemical properties of Iranian canola meal : Nutritional and anti-nutritional compounds. Damdaran-e-Iran, 13–15.
- Enami HR. 2003b. Evaluation of nutritional value of canola meal as a protin source in fish and shrimp diets. Damdaran-e-Iran, 27–29.
- Enami HR. 2011a. A review of using canola/rapeseed meal in aquaculture feeding. Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science.
- Enami HR. 2011b. A review of using canola/rapeseed meal in aquaculture feeding. Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science, 6(1):22–36.
- Engin K, Carter CG. 2005. Fish meal replacement by plant and animal by-products in diets for the Australian short-finned eel, Anguilla australis australis (Richardson). Aquaculture Research.
- Erdogan F, Olmez M. 2009. Effects of enzyme suplementation in diets on growth and feed utilization in angel fish, Pterophyllum scalare. Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances.
- Erickson GE, Klopfenstein TJ, Watson a K. 2012. Biofuel co-products as livestock feed opportunities and challenges.
- Evans JJ, Pasnik DJ, Yildirim-Aksoy M, Lim C, Klesius PH. 2010. Histologic changes in channel catfish, Ictalurus punctatus Rafinesque, fed diets containing graded levels of gossypol-acetic acid. Aquaculture Nutrition.
- Evans M. 1985. Nutrient composition of feedstuffs for pigs and poultry.
- Eyo AA, A.A O. 1998. Effect of supplementation of soya bean diet with L and L-methionine on the growth of mudfish C. auguillaris fingerlings. Nigeria Journal of Biotechnology, 9(1):9–16.
- Eyo AA, Olatunde AA. 1998. Effect of supplementation of soya bean diet with L and Lmethionine on the growth of mudfish C. auguillaris fingerlings. Nigeria Journal of Biotechnology, 9(1):9–16.
- Fagbenro OA. 1999. Comparative evaluation of heat-processed winged bean (Psophocarpus tetragonolobus) meals as partial replacement for fish meal in diets for the african catfish (Clarias gariepinus). Aquaculture.
- Fagbenro OA, Bello-Olusoji OA. 1997. Preparation, nutrient composition and digestibility of fermented shrimp head silage. Food Chemistry.
- FAO. 2012. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2012. FAO Fisheries technical paper.
- FAO. 2016. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture. Contributing to food security and nutrition for all.
- FAO. 2018. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2018 Meeting the sustainable development goals.

FAO - Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. 2017. GLOBEFISH Highlights.

- Ferrara E, Gustinelli A, Fioravanti M, Restucci B, Quaglio F, Marono S. 2015. Histological and micro- /macro-morphological evaluation of intestine in sharpsnout seabream (Diplodus puntazzo) fed soybean meal-based diets added with MOS and inulin as prebiotics. Aquaculture International, 1525–1537.
- Fontaínhas-Fernandes A, Gomes E, Reis-Henriques MA, Coimbra J. 1999. Replacement of fish meal by plant proteins in the diet of Nile tilapia: Digestibility and growth performance. Aquaculture International.
- Forster LA CM. 1995. Nutrient values for cottonseed product deserve new look. Feedstuffs, 67:1–5.
- Fowler LG. 1991. Poultry by-product meal as a dietary protein source in fall chinook salmon diets. Aquaculture.
- Francesco M, Parisi G, Medale F, Kaushik, Poli SJnBM. 2004. Effect of long term feeding with a plant protein mixture based diet on growth and body/fillet quality traits of large rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Aquaculture, 413–429.
- De Francesco M, Parisi G, Médale F, Lupi P, Kaushik SJ, Poli BM. 2004. Effect of long-term feeding with a plant protein mixture based diet on growth and body/fillet quality traits of large rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Aquaculture.
- Francis G, Makkar HPS, Becker K. 2001. Antinutritional factors present in plant-derived alternate fish feed ingredients and their effects in fish. Aquaculture.
- Friedman M. 1996. Nutritional Value of Proteins from Different Food Sources. A Review. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry.
- Froehlich HE, Jacobsen NS, Essington TE, Clavelle T, Halpern BS. 2018. Avoiding the ecological limits of forage fish for fed aquaculture. Nature Sustainability.
- Gatlin DM, Barrows FT, Brown P, Dabrowski K, Gaylord TG, Hardy RW, Herman E, Hu G, Krogdahl Å, Nelson R, et al. 2007. Expanding the utilization of sustainable plant products in aquafeeds: A review. Aquaculture Research.
- Gaylord TG, Rawles SD, Gatlin DM. 2004. Amino acid availability from animal, blended, and plant feedstuffs for hybrid striped bass (Morone chrysops x M. saxatilis). Aquaculture Nutrition.
- Gaylord TG, Teague AM, Barrows FT. 2006. Taurine supplementation of all-plant protein diets for rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Journal of the World Aquaculture Society.
- Geay F, Ferraresso S, Zambonino-Infante JL, Bargelloni L, Quentel C, Vandeputte M, Kaushik S, Cahu CL, Mazurais D. 2011. Effects of the total replacement of fish-based diet with plant-based diet on the hepatic transcriptome of two European sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax) half-sibfamilies showing different growth rates with the plant-based diet. BMC Genomics.
- Ghaeni M, Matinfar A, Soltani M, Rabbani M, Vosoughi A. 2011. Comparative effects of pure spirulina powder and other diets on larval growth and survival of green tiger shrimp, Peneaus semisulcatus. Iranian Journal of Fisheries Sciences.
- Glencross BD, Booth M, Allan GL. 2007. A feed is only as good as its ingredients A review of ingredient evaluation strategies for aquaculture feeds. Aquaculture Nutrition.

- Goda AM, El-Haroun ER, Kabir Chowdhury MA. 2007. Effect of totally or partially replacing fish meal by alternative protein sources on growth of African catfish Clarias gariepinus (Burchell, 1822) reared in concrete tanks. Aquaculture Research.
- Gomes EF, Corraze G, Kaushik S. 1993. Effects of dietary incorporation of a co-extruded plant protein (rapeseed and peas) on growth, nutrient utilization and muscle fatty acid composition of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Aquaculture.
- Gomes EF, Rema P, Kaushik SJ. 1995. Replacement of fish meal by plant proteins in the diet of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss): digestibility and growth performance. Aquaculture.
- Gordon Bell J, James Henderson R, Tocher DR, McGhee F, Dick JR, Porter A, Smullen RP, Sargent JR. 2002. Substituting fish oil with crude palm oil in the diet of atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) affects muscle fatty acid composition and hepatic fatty acid metabolism. Journal of Nutrition.
- Gordon MH. 1993. World oilseeds; chemistry, technology and utilization. Food Chemistry.
- Guerrero R.D. 2009. Vermnicompost and vermimeal production. MARID agribusiness technology Guide.
- Gui D, Liu W, Shao X, Xu W. 2010. Effects of different dietary levels of cottonseed meal protein hydrolysate on growth, digestibility, body composition and serum biochemical indices in crucian carp (Carassius auratus gibelio). Animal Feed Science and Technology.
- Gülyaşar T, Aydoğdu N, Çakina S, Sipahi T, Kaymak K, Şener S. 2010. Trace elements in a rat model of cadmium toxicity: The effects of taurine, melatonin and N-acetylcysteine. Trakya Universitesi Tip Fakultesi Dergisi.
- Guo J, Guo B, Zhang H, Xu W, Zhang W, Mai K. 2016. Effects of nucleotides on growth performance, immune response, disease resistance and intestinal morphology in shrimp Litopenaeus vannamei fed with a low fish meal diet. Aquaculture International.
- Güroy B, Şahin I, Mantoğlu S, Kayali S. 2012. Spirulina as a natural carotenoid source on growth, pigmentation and reproductive performance of yellow tail cichlid Pseudotropheus acei. Aquaculture International.
- Habib MAB, Parvin M, Huntington TC, Hasan MR. 2008. A review of culture, production and use of Spirulina as food for humans and feeds for domestic animals and fish.
- Hanel R, Broekman D, de Graaf S, Schnack D. 2007. Partial Replacement of Fishmeal by Lyophylized Powder of the Microalgae Spirulina platensis in Pacific White Shrimp Diets. The Open Marine Biology Journal.
- Hansen AC, Rosenlund G, Karlsen Ø, Koppe W, Hemre GI. 2007. Total replacement of fish meal with plant proteins in diets for Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua L.) I Effects on growth and protein retention. Aquaculture.
- Hansen AC, Waagbø R, Hemre GI. 2015. New B vitamin recommendations in fish when fed plant-based diets. Aquaculture Nutrition.
- Hardy RW. 2010. Utilization of plant proteins in fish diets: Effects of global demand and supplies of fishmeal. Aquaculture Research.
- Hardy RW, Sullivan C V. 1983. Canola Meal in Rainbow Trout (Salmo gairdneri) Production Diets . Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences.

- Harpaz S. 2005. L-Carnitine and its attributed functions in fish culture and nutrition A review. Aquaculture.
- Hasan MR, Macintosh DJ, Jauncey K. 1997. Evaluation of some plant ingredients as dietary protein sources for common carp (Cyprinus carpio L.) fry. Aquaculture.
- Heidrich JE, Hunsaker LA, Vander Jagt DL. 1983. Gossypol, an antifertility agent, exhibits antimalarial activity in vitro. IRCS Medical Science.
- Heikkinen J, Vielma J, Kemiläinen O, Tiirola M, Eskelinen P, Kiuru T, Navia-Paldanius D, von Wright A. 2006. Effects of soybean meal based diet on growth performance, gut histopathology and intestinal microbiota of juvenile rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Aquaculture.
- Helland SJ, Grisdale-Helland B. 2006. Replacement of fish meal with wheat gluten in diets for Atlantic halibut (Hippoglossus hippoglossus): Effect on whole-body amino acid concentrations. Aquaculture.
- Hendricks JD, Sinnhuber RO, Loveland PM, Pawlowski NE, Nixon JE. 1980. Hepatocarcinogenicity of glandless cottonseeds and cottonseed oil to rainbow trout (Salmo gairdnerii). Science.
- Henry M, Gasco L, Piccolo G, Fountoulaki E. 2015. Review on the use of insects in the diet of farmed fish: Past and future. Animal Feed Science and Technology.
- Herath SS, Haga Y, Satoh S. 2016. Potential use of corn co-products in fishmeal-free diets for juvenile Nile tilapia Oreochromis niloticus. Fisheries Science.
- Herkelman KL, Cromwell GL, Stahly TS. 1991. Effects of heating time and sodium metabisulfite on the nutritional value of full-fat soybeans for chicks. Journal of animal science.
- Herman RL. 1970. Effects of gossypol on rainbow trout Salmo guirdneri Richardson. Journal of Fish Biology.
- Hernández-Infante M, Sousa V, Montalvo I, Tena E. 1998. Impact of microwave heating on hemagglutinins, trypsin inhibitors and protein quality of selected legume seeds. Plant Foods for Human Nutrition.
- Hernández AJ, Roman D. 2016. Phosphorus and nitrogen utilization efficiency in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) fed diets with lupin (Lupinus albus) or soybean (Glycine max) meals as partial replacements to fish meal. Czech Journal of Animal Science.
- Hernández C, Hardy RW, Contreras-Rojas D, López-Molina B, González-Rodríguez B, Domínguez-Jimenez P. 2014. Evaluation of tuna by-product meal as a protein source in feeds for juvenile spotted rose snapper Lutjanus guttatus. Aquaculture Nutrition.
- Higgs D.A., J.R. Markert, D.W.MacQuarrie JRM. 1979. Development of practical dry diets for coho salmon, Oncorhyncus kisutch, using poultry byproduct meal, feather meal, soybean meal and rapeseed meal as major protein sources. Finfish nutrition and fishfeed technology, 2:191–218.
- Higgs DA, McBride JR, Markert JR, Dosanjh BS, Plotnikoff MD, Clarke WC. 1982. Evaluation of Tower and Candle rapeseed (canola) meal and Bronowski rapeseed protein concentrate as protein supplements in practical dry diets for juvenile chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha). Aquaculture.
- Higgs DA, Fagerlund UHM, McBride JR, Plotnikoff MD, Dosanjh BS, Markert JR, Davidson J. 1983. Protein quality of Altex canola meal for juvenile chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus

tshawytscha) considering dietary protein and 3,5,3'-triiodo-L-thyronine content. Aquaculture.

- Hong KJ, Lee CH, Sung WK. 2004. Aspergillus oryzae GB-107 fermentation improves nutritional quality of food soybeans and feed soybean meals. Journal of Medicinal Food.
- Hua K, Cobcroft JM, Cole A, Condon K, Jerry DR, Mangott A, Praeger C, Vucko MJ, Zeng C, Zenger K, et al. 2019. The Future of Aquatic Protein: Implications for Protein Sources in Aquaculture Diets. One Earth.
- Ibrahem MD, Mohamed MF, Ibrahim MA. 2013. The Role of Spirulina platensis (Arthrospira platensis) in Growth and Immunity of Nile Tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) and Its Resistance to Bacterial Infection. Journal of Agricultural Science.
- IFFO Fishmeal and Fish Oil Statistical Yearbooks. 2016.
- Inglis V, Roberts RJ, Bromage NR. 1993. Bacterial diseases of fish. Bacterial diseases of fish.
- IPIFF. 2018. IPIFF, 2018. International Platform of Insects for Food and Feed (IPIFF). The European insect sector today: challenges, opportunities and regulatory landscape.
- Iwashita Y, Yamamoto T, Furuita H, Sugita T, Suzuki N. 2008. Influence of certain soybean antinutritional factors supplemented to a casein-based semipurified diet on intestinal and liver morphology in fingerling rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss. Fisheries Science.
- J. M. Voorhees, M. E. Barnes SRC& MLB. 2019. Bioprocessed soybean meal replacement of fish meal in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) diets. Cogent Food & Agriculture.
- J.G. K, L.M. M, A. M, J.M. M. 2016. Performnace of Nile tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus, fed diets containing blood meal as a replacement of fish meal.
- J.R. S. 1986. Earthworm as a source of foods and drugs in earthworm ecology from Darwin to vermiculture, chappnam and Hall, London, New York.
- Jackson A, Newton R. 2016. Project To Model The Use of Fisheries By-Products in The Production of Marine Ingredients, with Special Reference The Omega 3 Fatty Acids EPA and DHA.
- Jackson AJ, Capper BS, Matty AJ. 1982. Evaluation of some plant proteins in complete diets for the tilapia Sarotherodon mossambicus. Aquaculture.
- Jaime-Ceballos B, Villarreal H, Gracia T, Perez-Jar L, Alfonso E. 2005. Effects of Spirulina plantesis meal as a feed additive on growth, survival, and development in Litopenaeus schmitti shrimp larvae.
- Jalili R, Tukmechi A, Agh N, Noori F, Ghasemi A. 2013. Replacement of dietary fish meal with plant sources in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss); effect on growth performance, immune responses, blood indices and disease resistance. Iranian Journal of Fisheries Sciences.
- James R, Sampath K, Thangarathinam R, Vasudevan I. 2006. Effect of dietary Spirulina level in growth, fertility, coloration and leucocyte count in red swordtail, Xiphophorus helleri. Israeli Journal of Aquaculture - Bamidgeh.
- Jauncey K. 1998. Tilapia feeds and feeding.
- Jiang HB, Chen LQ, Qin JG, Gao LJ, Li EC, Yu N, Sun SM, Jiang XQ. 2013. Partial or complete substitution of fish meal with soybean meal and cottonseed meal in Chinese mitten crab Eriocheir sinensis diets. Aquaculture International.

- Jiang J, Shi D, Zhou XQ, Feng L, Liu Y, Jiang WD, Wu P, Tang L, Wang Y, Zhao Y. 2016. Effects of lysine and methionine supplementation on growth, body composition and digestive function of grass carp (Ctenopharyngodon idella) fed plant protein diets using high-level canola meal. Aquaculture Nutrition.
- Jo H, Lee S, Yun H, Hong J, Moniruzzaman M, Bai SC, Park G, Chee S, Jeon TE. 2017. Evaluation of Dietary Fishmeal Analogue with Addition of Shrimp Soluble Extract on Growth and Nonspecific Immune Response of Rainbow Trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society.
- Jobling M. 2011. Nutrient requirements of fish and shrimp.
- Johnsen CA, Hagen O, Bendiksen EÅ. 2011. Long-term effects of high-energy, low-fishmeal feeds on growth and flesh characteristics of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). Aquaculture.
- Jones L. 1987. Recent advances in using cottonseed products. Proceedings of the Florida Nutrition Conference, 119–138.
- Kaladharan P, Jaseera KV. 2019. Thrauastochytrids in aquaculture- Can it replace fish meal in aquaculture? Aquaculture Spectrum, 25–27.
- Kasper CS, Watkins BA, Brown PB. 2007. Evaluation of two soybean meals fed to yellow perch (Perca flavescens). Aquaculture Nutrition.
- Khalil F, Gabr A, El-Sharkawy S. 2013. UTILIZATION OF DISTILLERS DRIED GRAINS WITH SOLUBLES IN FISH NUTRITION: 1-REPLACEMENT SOYBEAN MEAL AND YELLOW CORN BY DDGS GRADED LEVELS IN DIET FOR NILE TILAPIA FINGERLINGS (Oreochromis niloticus). Journal of Animal and Poultry Production.
- Khallaf EA, Alne-na-ei AA. 1987. Feeding ecology of Oreochromis niloticus (Linnaeus) & Tilapia Zillii (Gervias) in a Nile canal. Hydrobiologia.
- Khan S, Naz S, Sultan A, Alhidary IA, Abdelrahman MM, Khan RU, Khan NA, Khan MA, Ahmad S. 2016. Worm meal: A potential source of alternative protein in poultry feed. World's Poultry Science Journal.
- Kim KD, Jang JW, Kim KW, Lee BJ, Hur SW, Han HS. 2018. Tuna by-product meal as a dietary protein source replacing fishmeal in juvenile Korean rockfish Sebastes schlegeli. Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences.
- Kim TNT. 2017. Feeds, water quality, gut morphology and digestion in Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus). Feeds, water quality, gut morphology and digestion in Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus).
- Klinger D, Naylor R. 2012. Searching for solutions in aquaculture: Charting a sustainable course. Annual Review of Environment and Resources.
- Kpundeh MD, Qiang J, He J, Yang H, Xu P. 2015. Effects of dietary protein levels on growth performance and haemato-immunological parameters of juvenile genetically improved farmed tilapia (GIFT), Oreochromis niloticus. Aquaculture International.
- Krogdahl Å, Hemre GI, Mommsen TP. 2005. Carbohydrates in fish nutrition: Digestion and absorption in postlarval stages. Aquaculture Nutrition.
- Krogdahl Å, Penn M, Thorsen J, Refstie S, Bakke AM. 2010. Important antinutrients in plant feedstuffs for aquaculture: An update on recent findings regarding responses in salmonids. Aquaculture Research.

- Krogdahl Å, Gajardo K, Kortner TM, Penn M, Gu M, Berge GM, Bakke AM. 2015. Soya Saponins Induce Enteritis in Atlantic Salmon (Salmo salar L.). Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry.
- Kuiken K, Lyman C. 1948. Availability of amino acids in some foods. Journal of Nutrition, 359.
- Lall S. 1991. Digestibility, metabolism and excretion of dietary phosphorus in fish. Nutritional strategies and aquaculture waste, 21–36.
- Lambert Y, Dutil JD. 1997. Can simple condition indices be used to monitor and quantify seasonal changes in the energy reserves of atlantic cod (Gadus morhua)? Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences.
- Le HTMD, Shao X, Krogdahl Å, Kortner TM, Lein I, Kousoulaki K, Lie KK, Sæle Ø. 2019. Intestinal function of the stomachless fish, ballan wrasse (Labrus bergylta). Frontiers in Marine Science.
- Leaver MJ, Villeneuve LAN, Obach A, Jensen L, Bron JE, Tocher DR, Taggart JB. 2008. Functional genomics reveals increases in cholesterol biosynthetic genes and highly unsaturated fatty acid biosynthesis after dietary substitution of fish oil with vegetable oils in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). BMC Genomics.
- Lee KJ, Bai SC. 1997. Haemoglobin powder as a dietary fish meal replacer in juvenile Japanese eel, Anguilla japonica (Temminck et Schlegel). Aquaculture Research.
- Lee KJ, Dabrowski K. 2002. Gossypol and gossypolone enantiomers in tissues of rainbow trout fed low and high levels of dietary cottonseed meal. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry.
- Lee KJ, Dabrowski K, Blom JH, Bai SC, Stromberg PC. 2002. A mixture of cottonseed meal, soybean meal and animal byproduct mixture as a fish meal substitute: Growth and tissue gossypol enantiomer in juvenile rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition.
- Lee KJ, Rinchard J, Dabrowski K, Babiak I, Ottobre JS, Christensen JE. 2006. Long-term effects of dietary cottonseed meal on growth and reproductive performance of rainbow trout: Three-year study. Animal Feed Science and Technology.
- Li E, Lim C, Cai C, Klesius PH. 2011a. Growth response and resistance to Streptococcus iniae of Nile tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus, fed diets containing different levels of wheat distiller's dried grains with solubles with or without lysine supplementation. Animal Feed Science and Technology.
- Li M, Lai H, Li Q, Gong S, Wang R. 2016. Effects of dietary taurine on growth, immunity and hyperammonemia in juvenile yellow catfish Pelteobagrus fulvidraco fed all-plant protein diets. Aquaculture.
- Li MH, Robinson EH. 1995. Use of cottonseed meal in aquaculture feeds. Nutritional and Utilization Technology in Aquaculture, 157–165.
- Li MH, Robinson EH. 1998. Effects of supplemental lysine and methionine in low protein diets on weight gain and body composition of young channel catfish Ictalurus punctatus. Aquaculture.
- Li MH, Robinson EH. 2006. Use of Cottonseed Meal in Aquatic Animal Diets: A Review. North American Journal of Aquaculture.
- Li MH, Robinson EH. 2015. Complete feeds-intensive systems. Feed and Feeding Practices

in Aquaculture.

- Li MH, Robinson HE, Hardy RW. 2000. Protein sources for feed. Encyclopedia of Aquaculture, 688–695.
- Li MH, Oberle DF, Lucas PM. 2011b. Evaluation of corn distillers dried grains with solubles and brewers yeast in diets for channel catfish Ictalurus punctatus (Rafinesque). Aquaculture Research.
- Liebert F, Portz L. 2005. Nutrient utilization of Nile tilapia Oreochromis niloticus fed plant based low phosphorus diets supplemented with graded levels of different sources of microbial phytase. Aquaculture.
- Lim C. 1996. Substitution of cottonseed meal for marine animal protein in diets for Penaeus vannamei. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society.
- Lim C, Beames RM, Eales JG, Prendergast AF, Mcleese JM, Shearer KD, Higgs DA. 1997. Nutritive values of low and high fibre canola meals for shrimp (Penaeus vannamei). Aquaculture Nutrition.
- Lim C, Yildirim-Aksoy M, Klesius PH. 2009. Growth response and resistance to Edwardsiella ictaluri of channel catfish, Ictalurus punctatus, fed diets containing distiller's dried grains with solubles. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society.
- Lim C, Li E, Klesius PH. 2011. Distiller's dried grains with solubles as an alternative protein source in diets of tilapia. Reviews in Aquaculture.
- Lim SJ, Lee KJ. 2009. Partial replacement of fish meal by cottonseed meal and soybean meal with iron and phytase supplementation for parrot fish Oplegnathus fasciatus. Aquaculture.
- Lines JA, Spence J. 2012. Safeguarding the welfare of farmed fish at harvest. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry.
- Liu K. 2011. Chemical composition of distillers grains, a review. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry.
- Lovell T. 1989. Nutrition and Feeding of Fish.
- Lovell T. 1998. Nutrition and Fish Health. Nutrition and Feeding of Fish.
- Ltd. MMRP. 2019. Edible Insects Market by Product Type (Whole Insect, Insect Powder, Insect Meal, Insect Type (Crickets, Black Soldier Fly, Mealworms), Application (Animal Feed, Protein Bar and Shakes, Bakery, Confectionery, Beverages). 228.
- Lu J, Takeuchi T. 2004. Spawning and egg quality of the tilapia Oreochromis niloticus fed solely on raw Spirulina throughout three generations. Aquaculture.
- Lugner A. 2006. Evaluation of organically certifiable alternate protein sources for production of the marine carnivore, cobia (Rachycentron canadum).
- Lunger AN, McLean E, Gaylord TG, Kuhn D, Craig SR. 2007. Taurine supplementation to alternative dietary proteins used in fish meal replacement enhances growth of juvenile cobia (Rachycentron canadum). Aquaculture.
- Luo L, Xue M, Wu X, Cai X, Cao H, Liang Y. 2006. Partial or total replacement of fishmeal by solvent-extracted cottonseed meal in diets for juvenile rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Aquaculture Nutrition.
- Makinde MO, Akingbemi BT, Aire TA. 1997. Gossypol-induced erythrocyte fragility in the rat is

ameliorated by ethanol intake. South African Journal of Science.

- Makkar HPS, Tran G, Heuzé V, Ankers P. 2014. State-of-the-art on use of insects as animal feed. Animal Feed Science and Technology.
- Marfo EK, Simpson BK, Idowu JS, Oke OL. 1990. Effect of Local Food Processing on Phytate Levels in Cassava, Cocoyam, Yam, Maize, Sorghum, Rice, Cowpea, and Soybean. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry.
- Margalith P. 1967. Inhibitory effect of gossypol on microorganisms. Applied microbiology.
- Martin SD. 1990. Gossypol effects in animal feeding can be controlled. Feedstuffs.
- Mason, W,T., Rothamann, R.W and Deguinme J. 1992. Culture of earthworms for bait or fish food florida cooperative extensive service. Institute of food and agricultural sciences, University of Florida.
- Matos E, Gonçalves A, Bandarra N, Colen R, Nunes ML, Valente LMP, Dinis MT, Dias J. 2012. Plant proteins and vegetable oil do not have detrimental effects on post-mortem muscle instrumental texture, sensory properties and nutritional value of gilthead seabream. Aquaculture.
- Matos E, Silva TS, Colen R, Dinis MT, Dias J. 2014. Plant protein and vegetable oil-based diets modulate gilthead seabream (Sparus aurata) muscle biochemical status and proteolytic enzymes at an early postmortem stage. Aquaculture Nutrition.
- Matuk K. 1987. New possibilities in fish anaesthesia process. Halaszat (In Hungarian), 11–13.
- Mbahinzireki GB, Dabrowski K, Lee KJ, El-Saidy D, Wisner ER. 2001. Growth, feed utilization and body composition of tilapia (Oreochromis sp.) fed with cottonseed meal-based diets in a recirculating system. Aquaculture Nutrition.
- Meng-Umphan K. 2009. Growth performance, sex hormone levels and maturation ability of pla pho (Pangasius bocourti) fed with Spirulina supplementary pellet and hormone application. International Journal of Agriculture and Biology.
- Mente E, Deguara S, Begoña Santos M, Houlihan D. 2003. White muscle free amino acid concentrations following feeding a maize gluten dietary protein in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). Aquaculture.
- Merrifield DL, Bradley G, Baker RTM, Davies SJ. 2010. Probiotic applications for rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss Walbaum) II. Effects on growth performance, feed utilization, intestinal microbiota and related health criteria postantibiotic treatment. Aquaculture Nutrition.
- Millamena OM. 2002. Replacement of fish meal by animal by-product meals in a practical diet for grow-out culture of grouper Epinephelus coioides. Aquaculture.
- Mitchum DL, Sherman LE. 1981. Transmission of Bacterial Kidney Disease from Wild to Stocked Hatchery Trout. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences.
- MM E-H, MA A-R, HA G, MM Z. 2006. Effect of various level of dietary algae Scenedesmus spp on physiological performance and digestibility of Nile tilapia fingerlings. First Scientific Conference of the Egyptian Aquaculture Society, 137–149.
- Moniruzzaman M, Damusaru JH, Won S, Cho SJ, Chang KH, Bai SC. 2020. Effects of partial replacement of dietary fish meal by bioprocessed plant protein concentrates on growth performance, hematology, nutrient digestibility and digestive enzyme activities in juvenile

Pacific white shrimp, Litopenaeus vannamei. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture.

- Montamat EE, Burgos C, Gerez De Burgos NM, Rovai LE, Blanco A, Segura EL. 1982. Inhibitory action of gossypol on enzymes and growth of Trypanosoma cruzi. Science.
- Moraes G, De Almeida LC. 2019. Nutrition and functional aspects of digestion in fish. Biology and Physiology of Freshwater Neotropical Fish.
- Moriarty DJW. 1973. The physiology of digestion of blue-green algae in the cichlid fish, Tilapia nilotica. Journal of Zoology.
- Mosha SS. 2019. The Signifiance of Spirulina Meal on Fishmeal Replacement in Aquaculture: A Review. Journal of Fisheries and Aquaculture Development.
- Motawi TK, Abd Elgawad HM, Shahin NN. 2007. Modulation of indomethacin-induced gastric injury by spermine and taurine in rats. Journal of Biochemical and Molecular Toxicology.
- Mroz Z, Jongbloed AW, Partanen KH, Vreman K, Kemme PA, Kogut J. 2000. The effects of calcium benzoate in diets with or without organic acids on dietary buffering capacity/apparent digestibility, retention of nutrients, and manure characteristics in swine. Journal of Animal Science.
- Mustafa M, Nakagawa H. 1995. A review: dietary benefits of algae as an dditive in fish feed. Isr.J.Aquaculture Bamidgeh, 155–162.
- Musyoka SN, Liti DM, Ogello E, Waidbacher H. 2019. Utilization of the earthworm, Eisenia fetida (Savigny, 1826) as an alternative protein source in fish feeds processing: A review. Aquaculture Research.
- Mwachireya SA, Beames RM, Higgs DA, Dosanjh BS. 1999. Digestibility of canola protein products derived from the physical, enzymatic and chemical processing of commercial canola meal in rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss (Walbaum) held in fresh water. Aquaculture Nutrition.
- Nandeesha MC, Srikanth GK, Keshavanath P, Varghese TJ, Basavaraja N, Das SK. 1990. Effects of non-defatted silkworm-pupae in diets on the growth of common carp, Cyprinus carpio. Biological Wastes.
- Nandeesha MC, Gangadhara B, Manissery JK, Venkataraman L V. 2001. Growth performance of two Indian major carps, catla (Catla catla) and rohu (Labeo rohita) fed diets containing different levels of Spirulina platensis. Bioresource Technology.
- Nates S, J KS. 2015. Fish meal analogs: enhancement of animal by-product concentrates as substitutes for fish meal and fish oil in aquaculture feeds. World Aqua. Soc.
- Newkirk N. 2009. Canola meal: Feed Industry Guide.4th Edition. Canola meal: Feed Industry Guide.4th Edition. 18–38.
- Nguyen TN, Davis DA, Saoud IP. 2009. Evaluation of alternative protein sources to replace fish meal in practical diets for juvenile tilapia, Oreochromis spp. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society.
- Njue E, Kirimi L, Mathenge M. 2018. Uptake of Crop Insurance among Smallholder Farmers : Insights from Maize Producers in Kenya. 10th International Conference of Agricultural Economists.
- Nordrum S, Bakke-McKellep AM, Krogdahl Å, Buddington RK. 2000. Effects of soybean meal

and salinity on intestinal transport of nutrients in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) and rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - B Biochemistry and Molecular Biology.

- NRC. 1993. National research Council. Nutrient Requirements of Fish. National Academy Press.
- Nutrient Requirements of Fish. 1993.

Nutrient Requirements of Fish and Shrimp. 2011.

- Nyirenda, J., Mwabumba, M. K, And E, Sales J. 2000. Effect of substituting animal protein sources with soybean meal in diets of Oncorhynchus karongae. The ICLARM Quarterly, 23(4).
- O. Safari, F.Boldaji. 1985. Study of effect of partial substitution of canola meal and soybean meal with fishmeal in the diet of rainbow trout (Oncorhynatus mykiss). Pajouhesh Sazandegi, 79:45–51.
- Ofojekwu PC, Ejike C. 1984. Growth response and feed utilisation in the tropical cichlid Oreochromis niloticus niloticus (Linn.) fed on cottonseed-based artificial diets. Aquaculture.
- Ogunji JO. 2004. Alternative protein sources in diets for farmed tilapia. CAB Reviews.
- Oliva-Teles A, Enes P, Peres H. 2015. Replacing fishmeal and fish oil in industrial aquafeeds for carnivorous fish. Feed and Feeding Practices in Aquaculture.
- Olvera-Novoa MA, Domínguez-Cen LJ, Olivera-Castillo L, Martínez-Palacios CA. 1998. Effect of the use of the microalga Spirulina maxima as fish meal replacement in diets for tilapia, Oreochromis mossambicus (Peters), fry. Aquaculture Research.
- Olvera-Novoa MA, Olivera-Castillo L, Martínez-Palacios CA. 2002. Sunflower seed meal as a protein source in diets for Tilapia rendalli (Boulanger, 1896) fingerlings. Aquaculture Research.
- Omeru, E. D. AND Solomon RJ. 2016. COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS ON THE GROWTH PERFORMANCE OF CATFISH (Clarias Gariepinus) FED WITH EARTHWORM AS A REPLACEMENT OF FISH MEAL. American Journal of Research Communication.
- Oonincx DGAB, Van Broekhoven S, Van Huis A, Van Loon JJA. 2015. Feed conversion, survival and development, and composition of four insect species on diets composed of food by-products. PLoS ONE.
- Overland M, Krogdahl Å, Shurson G, Skrede A, Denstadli V. 2013. Evaluation of distiller's dried grains with solubles (DDGS) and high protein distiller's dried grains (HPDDG) in diets for rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Aquaculture.
- Overturf K, Vallejo RL, Palti Y, Barrows FT, Parsons JE. 2012. Microarray analysis of differential utilization of plant-based diets by rainbow trout. Aquaculture International.
- Ovie S, Ovie S. 2010. The effect of replacing Fish meal with 10% of Groundnut cake in the diets of H. longifilis on its Growth, Food conversion and Survival. Journal of Applied Sciences and Environmental Management.
- Ozorio R. 2009. Dietary L-Carnitine Supplementation to Cultivated Fish: A Mini-Review. Current Nutrition & Food Science.

Palmegiano GB, Daprà F, Forneris G, Gai F, Gasco L, Guo K, Peiretti PG, Sicuro B, Zoccarato

I. 2006. Rice protein concentrate meal as a potential ingredient in practical diets for rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Aquaculture.

- Panserat S, Kolditz C, Richard N, Plagnes-Juan E, Piumi F, Esquerré D, Médale F, Corraze G, Kaushik S. 2008. Hepatic gene expression profiles in juvenile rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) fed fishmeal or fish oil-free diets. British Journal of Nutrition.
- Panserat S, Hortopan GA, Plagnes-Juan E, Kolditz C, Lansard M, Skiba-Cassy S, Esquerré D, Geurden I, Médale F, Kaushik S, et al. 2009. Differential gene expression after total replacement of dietary fish meal and fish oil by plant products in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) liver. Aquaculture.
- Pavan Kumar B, Ramudu KR, Devi BC. 2014. Mini review on Incorporation of Cotton Seed Meal, an Alternative to Fish Meal in Aquaculture Feeds. International Journal of Biological Research.
- Pereira TG, Oliva-Teles A. 2003. Evaluation of corn gluten meal as a protein source in diets for gilthead sea bream (Sparus aurata L.) juveniles. Aquaculture Research.
- Da Porto C, Decorti D, Tubaro F. 2012. Fatty acid composition and oxidation stability of hemp (Cannabis sativa L.) seed oil extracted by supercritical carbon dioxide. Industrial Crops and Products.
- Portz L, Liebert F. 2004. Growth, nutrient utilization and parameters of mineral metabolism in Nile tilapia Oreochromis niloticus (Linnaeus, 1758) fed plant-based diets with graded levels of microbial phytase. Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition.
- Pretorius Q. 2011. The evaluation of larvae of Musca domestica (common house fly) as protein source for broiler production. Master Thesis, Stellenbosch University.
- Qiao H, Classen HL. 2003. Nutritional and physiological effects of rapeseed meal sinapine in broiler chickens and its metabolism in the digestive tract. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture.
- Qiu X, Davis DA. 2018. Evaluation of dried fermented biomass as a feed ingredient in plantbased practical diets for juvenile Pacific white shrimp Litopenaeus vannamei. Aquaculture Nutrition.
- R. M. 1994. Rapeseed meal- Glucosinolates and their antinutritional effects.Part4. Goitrogenicity and internal organs abnormalies in animals, 38:178–191.
- Randel RD, Chase CC, Wyse SJ. 1992. Effects of gossypol and cottonseed products on reproduction of mammals. Journal of animal science.
- Rani H, Hira K. 1993. Effect of various treatments on nutritional quality of fababean (Vicia faba). Journal of Food Science and Technology, 30:413–416.
- Ravindran V, Kornegay ET. 1993. Acidification of weaner pig diets: A review. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture.
- Rawles SD, Riche M, Gaylord TG, Webb J, Freeman DW, Davis M. 2006. Evaluation of poultry by-product meal in commercial diets for hybrid striped bass (Morone chrysops ♀ × M. saxatilis ♂) in recirculated tank production. Aquaculture.
- Refstie S, Korsøen ØJ, Storebakken T, Baeverfjord G, Lein I, Roem AJ. 2000. Differing nutritional responses to dietary soybean meal in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) and Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). Aquaculture.

- Refstie S, Sahlström S, Bråthen E, Baeverfjord G, Krogedal P. 2005. Lactic acid fermentation eliminates indigestible carbohydrates and antinutritional factors in soybean meal for Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). Aquaculture.
- Reigh RC. 1999. Production characteristics of pond-raised channel catfish Ictalurus punctatus fed diets with and without animal protein for three growing seasons. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society.
- Rema P, Saravanan S, Armenjon B, Motte C, Dias J. 2019. Graded incorporation of defatted yellow mealworm (Tenebrio molitor) in rainbow trout (oncorhynchus mykiss) diet improves growth performance and nutrient retention. Animals.
- Révész N, Havasi M, Lefler KK, Hegyi Á, Ardó L, Sándor Z. 2019. Protein replacement with dried distiller's grain with solubles (DDGS) in practical diet of common carp (cyprinus carpio). AACL Bioflux.
- Révész N, Kumar S, Bogevik AS, Fazekas G, Jeney Z, Hegyi Á, Sándor ZJ. 2020. Effect of temperature on digestibility, growth performance and nutrient utilization of corn distiller's dried grains with soluble (DDGS) in Common carp juveniles. Aquaculture Research.
- Richard L, Surget A, Rigolet V, Kaushik SJ, Geurden I. 2011. Availability of essential amino acids, nutrient utilisation and growth in juvenile black tiger shrimp, Penaeus monodon, following fishmeal replacement by plant protein. Aquaculture.
- Richmond A. 1986. Microalgae of economic potential. Handbook of Micro algal Mass Culture. 199–244.
- Rinchard J, Ciereszko A, Dabrowski K, Ottobre J. 2000. Effects of gossypol on sperm viability and plasma sex steroid hormones in male sea lamprey, Petromyzon marinus. Toxicology Letters.
- Robinson EH. 1991. Improvement of cottonseed meal protein with supplemental lysine in feeds for channel catfish. Journal of Applied Aquaculture.
- Robinson EH, Li MH. 1994. Use of Plant Proteins in Catfish Feeds: Replacement of Soybean Meal with Cottonseed Meal and Replacement of Fish Meal with Soybean Meal and Cottonseed Meal. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society.
- Rodiles A, Herrera M, Hachero-Cruzado I, Ruiz-Jarabo I, Mancera JM, Cordero ML, Lall SP, Alarcón FJ. 2015. Tissue composition, blood biochemistry and histology of digestive organs in Senegalese sole (Solea senegalensis) juveniles fed diets containing different plant protein ingredients. Aquaculture Nutrition.
- Roehm JN, Lee DJ, Wales JH, Polityka SD, Sinnhuber RO. 1970. The effect of dietary sterculic acid on the hepatic lipids of rainbow trout. Lipids.
- RR S. 1977. Recent research involting full-fat soybean meal in salmoid diets. Salmoid, 1:8. 18.
- S. N, K. S. 2015. Fish meal analogs: enhancement of animal by-product concentrates as substitutes for fish meal and fish oil in aquaculture feeds. J.World Aqua.
- Sajjadi M, Carter CG. 2004. Effect of phytic acid and phytase on feed intake, growth, digestibility and trypsin activity in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar, L.). Aquaculture Nutrition.
- Salama FA, Ali MN, Mahmoud SH, Tonsy HD, E MMH. 2011. Effects of radish root extract on improving the utilization of corn dried distillers grains with solubles in Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) fry diets. American-Eurasian Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Science, (938–946).

- Sandberg A -S, Svanberg U. 1991. Phytate Hydrolysis by Phytase in Cereals; Effects on In Vitro Estimation of Iron Availability. Journal of Food Science.
- Sandor JZ, Revesz N, Jeney Z, Bogevik A, Shahi N, Kumar S. 2016. Utilization of an agricultural by-product (corn DDGS) in common carp (Cyprinus carpio) aquafeeds. EAS 16 Aquaculture Europe Conference, Edinburgh, UK, extended abstract. 894–895.
- Santigosa E, Sánchez J, Médale F, Kaushik S, Pérez-Sánchez J, Gallardo MA. 2008. Modifications of digestive enzymes in trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) and sea bream (Sparus aurata) in response to dietary fish meal replacement by plant protein sources. Aquaculture.
- Santigosa E, García-Meilán I, Valentín JM, Navarro I, Pérez-Sánchez J, Gallardo MÁ. 2011a. Plant oils' inclusion in high fish meal-substituted diets: Effect on digestion and nutrient absorption in gilthead sea bream (Sparus aurata L.). Aquaculture Research.
- Santigosa E, García-Meilán I, Valentin JM, Pérez-Sánchez J, Médale F, Kaushik S, Gallardo MA. 2011b. Modifications of intestinal nutrient absorption in response to dietary fish meal replacement by plant protein sources in sea bream (Sparus aurata) and rainbow trout (Onchorynchus mykiss). Aquaculture.
- Sarker MSA, Satoh S, Kamata K, Haga Y, Yamamoto Y. 2012. Partial replacement of fish meal with plant protein sources using organic acids to practical diets for juvenile yellowtail, Seriola quinqueradiata. Aquaculture Nutrition.
- Schaeffer TW, Brown ML, Rosentrate KA. 2009. Performance Characteristics of Nile Tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) Fed Diets Containing Graded Levels of Fuel-Based Distillers Dried Grains with Solubles. Journal of Aquaculture Feed Science and Nutrition.
- Schaeffer TW, Brown ML, Rosentrater KA. 2012. Growth and Stress Resistance of Advanced Sized Nile Tilapia Fed Diets Containing Fuel-Based DDGS and Yeast. Journal of Applied Aquaculture.
- Sealey WM, Lim C, Klesius PH. 1997. Influence of the dietary level of iron from iron methionine and iron sulfate on immune response and resistance of channel catfish to Edwardsiella ictaluri. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society.
- Sealey WM, Gaylord TG, Barrows FT, Tomberlin JK, McGuire MA, Ross C, St-Hilaire S. 2011. Sensory Analysis of Rainbow Trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss, Fed Enriched Black Soldier Fly Prepupae, Hermetia illucens. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society.
- Sevgili H, Kurtoğlu A, Oikawa M, Aksoy A, Kocakaya S, Öztürk E, Uysal R, Gündüz Oruç H. 2015. A combination of corn gluten and soybean meal as a substitute for fishmeal in diets of turbot (Scophthalmus maximus Linnaeus, 1758) in brackish water. Journal of Applied Ichthyology.
- Shafaeipour A, Yavari V, Falahatkar B, Maremmazi JG, Gorjipour E. 2008. Effects of canola meal on physiological and biochemical parameters in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Aquaculture Nutrition.
- Shao J, Zhao W, Han S, Chen Y, Wang B, Wang L. 2019. Partial replacement of fishmeal by fermented soybean meal in diets for juvenile white shrimp (Litopenaeus vannamei). Aquaculture Nutrition.
- Shapawi R, Ng WK, Mustafa S. 2007. Replacement of fish meal with poultry by-product meal in diets formulated for the humpback grouper, Cromileptes altivelis. Aquaculture.

- Sharma S, Panta K. 2012. Use of Spirulina cultured in industrial effluents as a feed supplement on Sarotherodon mossambicus. Sonsik Journal, 4:39–44.
- Sheikhzadeh N, Tayefi-Nasrabadi H, Oushani AK, Enferadi MHN. 2012. Effects of Haematococcus Pluvialis Supplementation on Antioxidant System and Metabolism in Rainbow Trout (Oncorhynchus Mykiss). Fish Physiology and Biochemistry.
- Shukla A, Kaur VI, Kumar P, D. Ansal M, Dhawan A, Mishra V. 2018. Utilization of Dietary Soybean Meal and Groundnut Meal as Fish Meal Replacement in Heteropnuestes fossilis (Bloch.). International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences.
- De Silva SS, Perera MK. 1985. Effects of Dietary Protein Level on Growth, Food Conversion, and Protein Use in Young Tilapia nilotica at Four Salinities. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society.
- Slominski BA, Campbell LD. 1990. Non-starch polysaccharides of canola meal: Quantification, digestibility in poultry and potential benefit of dietary enzyme supplementation. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture.
- Smith LS. 1980. Chapter 1 . Digestion in Teleost Fishes. Fish feed technology.
- Sogbesan AO, Ugwumba AAA. 2008. Nutritional values of some non-conventional animal protein feedstuffs used as fishmeal supplement in aquaculture practices in Nigeria. Turkish Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences.
- Southern LL, Pontif JE, Watkins KL, Coombs DF. 1990. Amino acid-supplemented raw soybean diets for finishing swine. Journal of animal science.
- Spinelli J, Houle CR, Wekell JC. 1983. The effect of phytates on the growth of rainbow trout (Salmo gairdneri) fed purified diets containing varying quantities of calcium and magnesium. Aquaculture.
- Stafford EA, Tacon AGJ. 1985. The nutritional evaluation of dried earthworm meal (Eisenia foetida, Savigny, 1826) included at low levels in production diets for rainbow trout, Salmo gairdneri Richardson. Aquaculture Research.
- Steffens W. 1994. Replacing fish meal with poultry by-product meal in diets for rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss. Aquaculture.
- Storebakken T, Shearer KD, Baeverfjord G, Nielsen BG, Åsgård T, Scott T, De Laporte A. 2000. Digestibility of macronutrients, energy and amino acids, absorption of elements and absence of intestinal enteritis in Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar, fed diets with wheat gluten. Aquaculture.
- Struthers BJ, Lee DJ, Sinnhuber RO. 1975a. Altered lipid metabolism in livers of rainbow trout fed cyclopropenoid fatty acids. Experimental and Molecular Pathology.
- Struthers BJ, Wales JH, Lee DJ, Sinnhuber RO. 1975b. Liver composition and histology of rainbow trout fed cyclopropenoid fatty acids. Experimental and Molecular Pathology.
- Suárez JA, Gaxiola G, Mendoza R, Cadavid S, Garcia G, Alanis G, Suárez A, Faillace J, Cuzon G. 2009. Substitution of fish meal with plant protein sources and energy budget for white shrimp Litopenaeus vannamei (Boone, 1931). Aquaculture.
- Sugiura SH, Dong FM, Rathbone CK, Hardy RW. 1998. Apparent protein digestibility and mineral availabilities in various feed ingredients for salmonid feeds. Aquaculture.
- Sugiura SH, Babbitt JK, Dong FM, Hardy RW. 2000. Utilization of fish and animal by-product

meals in low-pollution feeds for rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss (Walbaum). Aquaculture Research.

- Suloma A, Mabroke RS, El-Haroun ER. 2013. Meat and bone meal as a potential source of phosphorus in plant-protein-based diets for Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus). Aquaculture International.
- Tacchi L, Secombes CJ, Bickerdike R, Adler MA, Venegas C, Takle H, Martin SAM. 2012. Transcriptomic and physiological responses to fishmeal substitution with plant proteins in formulated feed in farmed Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). BMC Genomics.
- Tacon, Methian AGJ and. 2015. Feed matters: satisfying the feed demand of aquaculture. Rev.Fish.Science Aquaculture, 1–10.
- Tacon AGJ. 1993. Feed ingredients for warmwater fish: fish-meal and other processed feedstuffs. FAO Fisheries Circular 856.Rome.FAO.
- Tacon AGJ, Metian M. 2009. Fishing for feed or fishing for food: Increasing global competition for small pelagic forage fish. Ambio.
- Tacon AGJ, Stafford EA, Edwards CA. 1983. A preliminary investigation of the nutritive value of three terrestrial lumbricid worms for rainbow trout. Aquaculture.
- Tacon AGJ, Hasan MR, Metian M. 2011. Demand and supply of feed ingredients for farmed fish and crustaceans : Trends and prospects.
- Tan, R.K.H. & Dominy WG. 1997. Commercial pelleting of crustacean feeds.
- Tanphaichitr V, Horne DW, Broquist HP. 1971. Lysine, a precursor of carnitine in the rat. Journal of Biological Chemistry.
- Teimouri M, Amirkolaie AK, Yeganeh S. 2013. The effects of spirulina platensis meal as a feed supplement on growth performance and pigmentation of rainbow trout (oncorhynchus mykiss). Aquaculture.
- Teng D, Gao M, Yang Y, Liu B, Tian Z, Wang J. 2012. Bio-modification of soybean meal with Bacillus subtilis or Aspergillus oryzae. Biocatalysis and Agricultural Biotechnology.
- Thacker PA, Kirkwood RN. 2017. Nontraditional feed sources for use in swine production.
- Thiessen DL, Maenz DD, Newkirk RW, Classen HL, Drew MD. 2004. Replacement of fishmeal by canola protein concentrate in diets fed to rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Aquaculture Nutrition.
- Torstensen BE, Frøyland L, Lie. 2004. Replacing dietary fish oil with increasing levels of rapeseed oil and olive oil Effects on Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) tissue and lipoprotein lipid composition and lipogenic enzyme activities. Aquaculture Nutrition.
- Torstensen BE, Espe M, Sanden M, Stubhaug I, Waagbø R, Hemre GI, Fontanillas R, Nordgarden U, Hevrøy EM, Olsvik P, et al. 2008. Novel production of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) protein based on combined replacement of fish meal and fish oil with plant meal and vegetable oil blends. Aquaculture.
- Urán PA, Gonçalves AA, Taverne-Thiele JJ, Schrama JW, Verreth JAJ, Rombout JHWM. 2008. Soybean meal induces intestinal inflammation in common carp (Cyprinus carpio L.). Fish and Shellfish Immunology.
- Valente LMP, Cabral EM, Sousa V, Cunha LM, Fernandes JMO. 2016. Plant protein blends in diets for Senegalese sole affect skeletal muscle growth, flesh texture and the expression

of related genes. Aquaculture.

- Viegas EMM, Carneiro DJ, Urbinati EC, Malheiros EB. 2008. Canola meal in the diets of pacu Piaractus mesopotamicus (Holmberg 1887): effects on growth and body composition. Arquivo Brasileiro de Medicina Veterinaria e Zootecnia.
- Volkmann H, Imianovsky U, Oliveira JLB, Sant'Anna ES. 2008. Cultivation of arthrospira (Spirulina) platensis in desalinator wastewater and salinated synthetic medium: Protein content and amino-acid profile. Brazilian Journal of Microbiology.
- W. H, B. DK. 2016. Insectenkweek: kleine sector met grote kansen. Rapport ABN AMRO en Brabantse Ontwikkelings Maatschappij, 37.
- Wales JH, Sinnhuber RO. 1972. Hepatomas induced by aflatoxin in the sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka). Journal of the National Cancer Institute.
- Wang J, Tao Q, Wang Z, Mai K, Xu W, Zhang Y, Ai Q. 2017. Effects of fish meal replacement by soybean meal with supplementation of functional compound additives on intestinal morphology and microbiome of Japanese seabass (Lateolabrax japonicus). Aquaculture Research.
- Wang SY, Lau K, Lai KP, Zhang JW, Tse ACK, Li JW, Tong Y, Chan TF, Wong CKC, Chiu JMY, et al. 2016. Hypoxia causes transgenerational impairments in reproduction of fish. Nature Communications.
- Watanabe T. 2002. Strategies for further development of aquatic feeds. Fisheries Science, 68(2):242–252.
- Watanabe T, Takeuchi T, Satoh S, Kiron V. 1996. Digestible Crude Protein Contents in Various Feedstuffs Determined with Four Freshwater Fish Species. Fisheries Science.
- Watanuki H, Ota K, Tassaka A, Kato T, Sakai M. 2006. Immunostimulants effects of dietary Spirulina plantesis on carp, Cyprinus carpio. Aquaculture, 157–163.
- Webster CD, Tidwell JH, Yancey DH. 1991. Evaluation of distillers' grains with solubles as a protein source in diets for channel catfish. Aquaculture.
- Webster CD, Yancey DH, Tidwell JH. 1992. Effect of partially or totally replacing fish meal with soybean meal on growth of blue catfish (Ictalurus furcatus). Aquaculture.
- Webster CD, Tidwell JH, Goodgame LS, Johnsen PB. 1993. Growth, body composition, and organoleptic evaluation of channel catfish fed diets containing different percentages of distillers grains with solubles. Progressive Fish-Culturist.
- Welker TL, Lim C, Barrows FT, Liu K. 2014. Use of distiller's dried grains with solubles (DDGS) in rainbow trout feeds. Animal Feed Science and Technology.
- Weng TM, Chen MT. 2010. Changes of protein in natto (a fermented soybean food) affected by fermenting time. Food Science and Technology Research.
- Wichmann K, Vaheri A, Luukkainen T. 1982. Inhibiting herpes simplex virus type 2 infection in human epithelial cells by gossypol, a potent spermicidal and contraceptive agent. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology.
- Wilson R.P. 2002. Amino acids and proteins. Fish Nutrition Elsevier Science.
- Wilson RP, Poe WE. 1985. Apparent digestible protein and energy coefficients of common feed ingredients for channel catfish. Progressive Fish-Culturist.

- World Bank. 2013. Fish to 2030: Prospects for fisheries and aquaculture World Bank Report Number 83177-GLB. Agriculture and environmental services discussion paper.
- Yamamoto T, Iwashita Y, Matsunari H, Sugita T, Furuita H, Akimoto A, Okamatsu K, Suzuki N. 2010. Influence of fermentation conditions for soybean meal in a non-fish meal diet on the growth performance and physiological condition of rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss. Aquaculture.
- Yamamoto T, Matsunari H, Sugita T, Furuita H, Masumoto T, Iwashita Y, Amano S, Suzuki N. 2012. Optimization of the supplemental essential amino acids to a fish meal-free diet based on fermented soybean meal for rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss. Fisheries Science.
- Yang S Der, Liu FG, Liou CH. 2012. Effects of dietary l-carnitine, plant proteins and lipid levels on growth performance, body composition, blood traits and muscular carnitine status in juvenile silver perch (Bidyanus bidyanus). Aquaculture.
- Yang Y, Xie S, Cui Y, Zhu X, Lei W, Yang Y. 2006. Partial and total replacement of fishmeal with poultry by-product meal in diets for gibel carp, Carassius auratus gibelio Bloch. Aquaculture Research.
- Yeganeh S, Teimouri M, Amirkolaie AK. 2015. Dietary effects of Spirulina platensis on hematological and serum biochemical parameters of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Research in Veterinary Science.
- Ytrestøyl T, Aas TS, Åsgård T. 2015. Utilisation of feed resources in production of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) in Norway. Aquaculture.
- Yun B, Mai K, Zhang W, Xu W. 2011. Effects of dietary cholesterol on growth performance, feed intake and cholesterol metabolism in juvenile turbot (Scophthalmus maximus L.) fed high plant protein diets. Aquaculture.
- Yurkowski M, Bailey JK, Evans RE, Tabachek J-AL, Ayles GB, Eales JG. 1978. Acceptability of Rapeseed Proteins in Diets of Rainbow Trout (Salmo gairdneri). Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada.
- Zeinhom M. 2004. Nutritional and physiological studies on fish. Faculty of Agriculture, Zagazig University.
- Zhang YQ, Wu YB, Jiang DL, Qin JG, Wang Y. 2014. Gamma-irradiated soybean meal replaced more fish meal in the diets of Japanese seabass (Lateolabrax japonicus). Animal Feed Science and Technology.
- Zhou QC, Yue YR. 2010. Effect of replacing soybean meal with canola meal on growth, feed utilization and haematological indices of juvenile hybrid tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus×Oreochromis aureus. Aquaculture Research.

Content of figures

Figure 1: World aquaculture production of food fish and aquatic plants, 1990-2016 (FA	AO 2018).
	2
Figure 2: World capture fisheries and aquaculture production (FAO 2018)	3
Figure 3: Average annual growth rate of aquaculture production by volume (excludin	g aquatic
plants)(FAO 2018).	4
Figure 4: Aquaculture contribution to total fish production (excluding aquatic plan	ts) (FAO
2018).	5
Figure 5: Digestive track of teleost fish (Smith 1980).	9
Figure 6: Production processes of BPCs from SBM and CGM (Moniruzzaman et al. 2020))21
Figure 7: Mean weight for the three experimental diet (Omeru, E. D. AND Solomon 2016	5)60
Figure 8: Mean length for the three experimental diet (Omeru, E. D. AND Solomon 2016	5) . 61

Content of tables

Table 1: Composition of the experimental diets in juvenile Pacific white shrimp (Moniruzzaman et al. 2020)
Table 2: Comparison the experimental diets for digestibility evaluation in juvenile Pacific white shrimp (Moniruzzaman et al. 2020).
Table 3: Composition and ingredients of experimental diet (Jalili et al. 2013).
Table 4: Growth parameters of rainbow trout fed with experimental diets (Jalili et al. 2013) 25
Table 5: Growth parameters and economic evaluation at the end of the experiment (Shukla et al 2018). 27
Table 6: The world's top canola/ rapeseed producers (tones) by countries in 2010 (Enami 2011a).
Table 7: Comparison the compounds of the Iranian and Canadian rapeseed meal (Enami 2011a).
Table 8: Tolerance and toxicity of free gossypol from cottonseed meal to fish and shrimp (use ofcottonseed meal in the aquatic animal diet)(Li and Robinson 2006)
Table 9: Nutritional content of spirulina compared to fish meal (Mosha 2019).
Table 10: Measured parameters of Cyprinus carpio juveniles (Révész et al. 2019)
Table 11: Composition of fermented fish offal's silage and poultry offal's silage (El-Sayed et al. 2020). 53
Table 12: Dietary compositions of experimental diets (El-Sayed et al. 2020)
Table 13: Growth performance parameters of the experimental diets for African catfish (El-Sayed et al. 2020). 55

Acknowledgement

I want to thank to Prof. Dr. Mansour El-Matbouli, head of the Fish Medicine at University of Veterinary Vienna, for giving me the opportunity to write my diploma work under his supervision.

My sincere gratitude goes to Dr. Simon Menanteau-Ledouble as my second supervisor for his valuable advices, supports and help during the work.

I praise my family for their constant support during my veterinary study. This would not have been possible without them. To my lovely family, thank you very much for encouraging me in my veterinary studies and inspiring me to follow my dreams.